Agreement

between the

California School Employees Association, AFL-CIO

and its

Coronado Chapter No. 386,

Unit-One and Unit-Two

and the

Coronado Unified School District Board of Education

July 1, 2011

To

June 30, 2014

CORONADO UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT BOARD OF EDUCATION

Bruce Shepherd, President Dawn Ovrom, Vice President Brenda Kracht, Clerk Ledyard Hakes, Member Doug Metz, Member

Coronado Unified School District Negotiating Team

Jeffrey P. Felix, Ed.D., Superintendent
Rebekah Barakos-Cartwright, Director, Human Resources
Randie Allen, Assistant Superintendent, Business Services
Gerald A. Conradi, Attorney At Law, Atkinson, Andelson, Loya, Ruud & Romo

California School Employees Association, Chapter No. 386 Negotiating Team

Margie Strike, CSEA Labor Relations Representative

Donna Dente, Lisa Stahley, John Coolidge, Karen Hayden, John Bonnett

PREAMBLE

This Agreement is made and entered into this 10th day of June, 2008, by and between the Coronado Unified School District and the California School Employees Association and its Coronado Chapter #386, or its successors, referred to as CSEA.

The purpose of this Agreement is to promote the improvement of personnel management and employer/employee relations; provide a fair and peaceful procedure for the resolution of differences; and establish rates of pay and other terms and conditions of employment.

The employer/employee relationship between the California School Employees Association, CSEA Chapter #386, and the Coronado Unified School District has evolved into a partnership that is an essential element in delivering quality education to Coronado students. It is with great pride that we join management in assessing our collective bargaining agreement as a critical and effective tool in helping meet both district and employee needs.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

| ARTICLE | | | PAGE | |
|-------------|-------------------------|-----------------------------|------|--|
| PREAMBLE | | | | |
| Article I | DEFINITION OF TERMS | | | |
| | 1.1 | Definitions | 1 | |
| Article II | RECOGNITION | | | |
| | 2.1 | Acknowledgment | 7 | |
| | 2.2 | Negotiations Procedures | 8 | |
| | 2.3 | Non-Discrimination | 9 | |
| Article III | MANA | AGEMENT RIGHTS | | |
| | 3.1 | Management Rights | 10 | |
| Article IV | ORGANIZATIONAL SECURITY | | | |
| | 4.2 | Requirements | 13 | |
| | 4.3 | Hold Harmless Provision | 14 | |
| | 4.6 | Information | 14 | |
| Article V | CONS | ULTATION RIGHTS | 15 | |
| Article VI | HOURS AND OVERTIME | | | |
| | 6.1 | Workweek | 16 | |
| | 6.2 | Workday | 16 | |
| | 6.3 | Adjustment of Assigned Time | 16 | |
| | 6.4 | Increase in Hours | 17 | |
| | 6.5 | Lunch Period | 17 | |
| | 6.6 | Rest Periods | 17 | |

| 6.7 | Rest Facilities | | |
|----------|---|--|--|
| 6.8 | Voting Time Off18 | | |
| 6.9 | Overtime18 | | |
| 6.10 | Split Shift Differential - Compensation19 | | |
| 6.11 | Shift Differential - Compensation19 | | |
| 6.12 | Compensatory Time19 | | |
| 6.13 | Overtimes Distribution by Seniority19 | | |
| 6.14 | Minimum Call-In Time | | |
| 6.15 | Right of Refusal20 | | |
| 6.16 | Stand-By Time | | |
| 6.17 | Call-Back Time | | |
| 6.18 | Non-Regular Session Assignment20 | | |
| 6.19 | Vacation21 | | |
| 6.20 | Flexible Hours23 | | |
| 6.21 | Minimum Days24 | | |
| HOLID | DAYS | | |
| 7.1 | Scheduled Holidays25 | | |
| 7.2 | Additional Holidays25 | | |
| 7.3 | Holiday Eligibility25 | | |
| 7.4 | Holidays on Saturday or Sunday26 | | |
| BENEFITS | | | |
| 8.1 | Unit I - Insurance Coverage27 | | |
| 8.2 | Unit-2 - Insurance Coverage27 | | |
| 8.3 | Unit I and Unit – Insurance Coverage28 | | |
| 8.4 | Early Retirement Incentive28 | | |
| | 6.8 6.9 6.10 6.11 6.12 6.13 6.14 6.15 6.16 6.17 6.18 6.19 6.20 6.21 HOLII 7.1 7.2 7.3 7.4 BENEI 8.1 8.2 8.3 | | |

| Article IX | SALARY | | |
|------------|--------|--|----|
| | 9.1 | Salary schedule | 30 |
| | 9.2 | Promotion Compensation | 30 |
| | 9.3 | Inconsistent Duty compensation | 30 |
| | 9.4 | Mileage | 31 |
| | 9.5 | Deductions | 31 |
| | 9.6 | Professional Growth Program | 31 |
| | 9.7 | Supplementary Salary for Verified Trade Skills | 32 |
| | 9.8 | "Y" Rating | 33 |
| Article X | LEAVES | | |
| | 10.1 | Sick Leave | 34 |
| | 10.2 | Pregnancy Disability Leave/Maternity Leave | 37 |
| | 10.3 | Personal Necessity Leave | 40 |
| | 10.4 | Bereavement Leave | 42 |
| | 10.5 | Judicial Appearances and Jury Duty Leave | 42 |
| | 10.6 | Military Leave | 43 |
| | 10.7 | Uncompensated Leave | 43 |
| | 10.8 | Industrial Accident and Illness Leave | 44 |
| | 10.9 | Unauthorized Leave/Absence | 46 |
| | 10.10 | Personal Business Leave | 47 |
| | 10.11 | Family and Medical Leave | 47 |
| | 10.12 | Catastrophic Leave | 53 |
| Article XI | SAFETY | CONDITIONS OF EMPLOYMENT | 56 |

| Article XII | TRANS | TRANSFERS | | |
|--------------|------------------------|-----------------------------------|--|--|
| | 12.1 | General57 | | |
| | 12.2 | Definitions57 | | |
| | 12.3 | Voluntary Transfers57 | | |
| | 12.4 | Reassignments59 | | |
| Article XIII | EVALUATION PROCEDURES | | | |
| | 13.1 | General60 | | |
| | 13.2 | Time of Evaluation60 | | |
| | 13.3 | Personnel Files61 | | |
| | 13.4 | Grievance Procedure | | |
| | 13.5 | Representation62 | | |
| | 13.6 | Employees' Rights62 | | |
| | 13.7 | Negative Incident62 | | |
| | 13.8 | Evaluation Procedures Revisions62 | | |
| Article XIV | NO ST | RIKE PROVISION64 | | |
| Article XV | GRIEV | VANCE PROCEDURE | | |
| | 15.1 | Scope65 | | |
| | 15.2 | General Provisions65 | | |
| | 15.3 | Review Procedures66 | | |
| Article XVI | ASSOCIATION RIGHTS | | | |
| | 16.1 | CSEA Rights69 | | |
| | 16.2 | Distribution of Contract70 | | |
| Article XVII | PROMOTIONAL PROCEDURES | | | |
| | 17.2 | Promotional Position Interview71 | | |
| | 17.4 | Posting of Notice72 | | |

| | 17.5 | Notice Contents | 72 |
|---------------|--|---|----|
| | 17.6 | Reclassifications | 72 |
| Article XVIII | EFFE(| CT OF AGREEMENT | 74 |
| Article XIX | LAYO | FF AND REEMPLOYMENT PROCEDURES | |
| | 19.1 | Reasons for Layoff | 75 |
| | 19.2 | Notice of Layoff | 75 |
| | 19.3 | Order of Layoff | 76 |
| | 19.4 | Demotion or Retirement Instead of Layoff | 77 |
| | 19.5 | Reemployment Procedures | 78 |
| | 19.6 | Seniority List | 80 |
| Article XX | TERM | | 81 |
| APPENDIX A | Employ | cations and Ranges vee Benefits Schedule | |
| APPENDIX B | Health and welfare Benefits | | |
| APPENDIX C | Report of performance for classified Employees | | |
| APPENDIX D | GRIEVANCE FORM | | |
| APPENDIX E | "Declar | sional Growth Application Forms ration of Intent" cate of completion" | |

ARTICLE 1 DEFINITION OF TERMS

1.1 Definitions

- 1.1.1 "Academic Year" is the period determined by the District when students are normally required to attend and include all recess periods falling within that time span.
- 1.1.2 **"The Act"** means chapter 10.7, sections 3540 through 3549.3 of Division 4 of Title 1 of the Government Code of the State of California.
- 1.1.3 **"Allocation"** is the placement of a classification on a specific salary schedule range or rate.
- 1.1.4 "Anniversary Date" is the date upon which an employee is granted salary step advancement earned by completion of a required period of service, which shall not exceed one calendar year from the initial date of employment, the date of the last salary step advancement, or, in case of change in classification, the date of such change.
- 1.1.5 **"Bargaining Unit"** refers to all regular employees that are within the bargaining unit represented by CSEA, Chapter 386.
- 1.1.6 "Bargaining Unit One (1)" is composed of members employed in the following classifications: Clerical and secretarial, Fiscal, Library, Custodial, Food Service, Transportation, Maintenance, Grounds, Supply, and any other similar classifications the District has now or may create.
- 1.1.7 "Bargaining Unit Two (2)" is composed of members in the following paraprofessional classifications: Instructional Assistants (Regular and Special Ed.), Readings Guides, Science Assistants, P.E. Assistants, Playground Supervisors and any other similar classifications the District has now or may create."
- 1.1.8 **"Board"** is the Board of Education of the Coronado Unified School District.

- 1.1.9 **"Bumping Right"** is the right of an employee, under certain conditions, to displace an employee with less seniority within a classification.
- 1.1.10 "Class" is any group of positions sufficiently similar in duties, responsibilities, and authority that the job title, minimum qualifications, and salary range are proper for all positions in a class.
- 1.1.11 "Classification Description" is the description of the duties responsibilities, minimum qualifications, and authority of positions in a classification.
- 1.1.12 "Classified Employee" means a classified employee who is a member of one of the bargaining units.
- 1.1.13 "Classification" is the act of placing an employee in a position in a classification. It shall be construed to mean that each employee in a position in the classified service shall have a set title; a regular minimum number of assigned hours per day, days per week, and months per year; there will be a statement of the class description for each such position, and the regular hourly or monthly salary range for each employee in a position.
- 1.1.14 "CSEA" means the California School Employees Association, Chapter 386.
- 1.1.15 **"Demotion"** is a change in assignment of an employee from a position in one classification to a position in another classification that is assigned to a lower maximum salary rate or to an assignment to an inferior status.
- 1.1.16 "Differential" is a salary allowance in addition to the basic rate or schedule based upon additional skills, responsibilities, hours of employment, or distasteful or hazardous work.
- 1.1.17 "District" means the Coronado Unified School District.
- 1.1.18 "**Duty Days**" or "work days" are days on which members of the unit must report to work.

- 1.1.19 "A Regular, Full-Time Employee" is defined as a member of the unit who is assigned to work eight (8) hours a day, over a nine (9), ten (10), eleven (11), or twelve (12) month annual duty schedule.
- 1.1.20 "A regular, Part-Time Employee" is defined as a member of the unit who is assigned to work less than the regular full-time employee as defined in this Agreement.
- 1.1.21 **"Employment Date"** of new employees shall mean the date of first paid service to the District in a probationary position.
- 1.1.22 **"Exclusive Representative"** refers to the California School Employees Association, Chapter 386.
- 1.1.23 **"Fiscal Year and School Year"** is July 1 through June 30.
- 1.1.24 "Health and Welfare Benefits" means any form of insurance or similar benefit programs, including, but not limited to medical, hospitalization, surgical, prescription drug, dental, optical, psychiatric, life, disability, prepaid legal, income protection insurance or annuity programs.
- 1.1.25 "Industrial Accident or Illness" is an injury or illness that occurred while performing the duties assigned by the District.
- 1.1.26 "**Involuntary Demotion**" is a demotion without the employee's prior written consent.
- 1.1.27 "Member of the Unit" refers to all regular classified employees of the District included in the proper unit of classified employees described in the Board's Employer Decision granting voluntary recognition, dated March 30, 1977 for Unit-I and June 22, 1983, for unit 2. (Reference 1.1.5 through 1.1.7)
- 1.1.28 "Minimum Qualifications" are qualifications mandated for the position which must be possessed by an employee before he or she can be considered for employment in a specific classification.

- "Negotiable Items" are matters relating to wages, hours of employment, and other terms and conditions of employment. "Terms and conditions of employment" mean health and welfare benefits as defined by Section 53200 of the Government Code, leave, transfer and reassignment policies, safety conditions of employment, class size, procedures to be used for the evaluation of employees, organizational security following Section 3546 of the Act, and procedures for processing of grievances.
- 1.1.30 "Non-Regular Session" When work normally and usually performed by bargaining unit employees is required to be performed at times other than during a regular academic year.
- 1.1.31 "Notice" whenever notice is required under this Agreement, and no form of notice is otherwise designated, notice to the District shall be by personal delivery to the Office of the superintendent or written notice by First Class Mail to the Office of the superintendent.

Notice to CSEA shall be written notice personally delivered to the president of the local chapter or First class Mail notice directly to the Field Representative at 6341 Nancy Ridge Drive, San Diego, CA 92121.

- 1.1.32 "Permanent Employee" is a regular employee who successfully completes an initial probationary period, which shall not exceed six (6) work months of service beyond the initial date of employment by the District.
- 1.1.33 **"Probationary Employee"** is a regular employee who will become permanent upon completion of a prescribed probationary period.
- 1.1.34 "**Promotion**" is a change in the assignment of an employee from a position in one classification to a position in another classification with a higher maximum salary rate.
- 1.135 **"Reclassification"** is the upgrading of a position to a higher class as a result of the increase the duties and/or responsibilities being performed by the incumbent in such position.

- 1.1.36 "Reemployment" is the return to duty of an employee who has been placed on a reemployment list.
- 1.1.37 "Reemployment List" is a list of names of persons who have been laid off for lack of work or lack of funds and who during a period of thirty-nine (39) months, are eligible for reemployment without examination in their former classification. Each person placed on a reemployment list shall be ranked according to his or her seniority.
- 1.1.38 **"Regular Employee"** is an employee, whether permanent, probationary, full-time or part-time, who is not a restricted, substitute, short-term or student employee.
- 1.1.39 "Restricted Employee" is an employee hired pursuant to any local, state, or federally funded program which restricts employment to persons in low income groups, designated impoverished areas, and any other criteria which restricts the privilege of all citizens to compete for employment under that program except as may otherwise be specified by this Agreement.
- 1.1.40 "Overtime" for computing the number of hours worked, shall include all time worked. Time during which an employee is excused from work because of holidays, sick leave, vacation, compensating time off, or other paid leave of absence shall be considered as time worked by the employee.
- 1.1.41 "Safety Conditions of Employment" means any work-related condition affecting health, safety or welfare of the employee.
- 1.1.42 "Salary Rate" is a specific amount of money paid pursuant to an established salary schedule on an hourly, monthly, or annual basis.
- 1.1.43 "Salary Schedule" is a series of salary steps and ranges which make up the rates of pay for all classifications within the bargaining unit.
- 1.1.44 **"Salary Step"** is one of the salary levels within the range of rates for a classification.

- 1.1.45 **"Seniority"** is determined by an employee's first paid date of service in probationary or permanent status in a particular classification. Seniority, for purposes of layoff, is determined by hire date in a classification, plus higher classifications.
- 1.1.46 **"Short-Term Employee"** is a person hired for a specific temporary project of limited duration which, when completed, shall no longer be required, extended, or needed on a continuing basis. (Ref. Article 19, section 19.3.4)
- 1.1.47 "Student Employee" is either an employee employed by the District three
 (3) hours per day or less who is also a full-time student enrolled in the
 District, or any student in a position approved by CSEA and the District in
 this agreement, employed by the District in any secondary school or college
 work-study program, or in any state or federally work experience program.
- 1.1.48 "Substitute Employee" is a person hired to perform the duties of a position in the temporary absence of the employee who is regularly assigned to that position. Substitute employees will not work more than sixty (60) calendar days in a vacant position.
- 1.1.49 "Summer School" is that period when schools are in session between June and September, which falls outside the academic year.
- 1.1.50 "Uniforms" any clothing of a particular color, design, pattern or style required to be worn by the District shall be considered a uniform.
- 1.1.51 "Voluntary Demotion" is a demotion agreed to in writing by the employee and the District.
- 1.1.52 "Work Days" or "Duty Days" are days on which members of the unit must report to work.
- 1.1.53 "Working Hours" all hours in paid status shall be considered working hours.

ARTICLE II RECOGNITION

2.1 Acknowledgment

The District hereby acknowledges that CSEA is the exclusive bargaining representative for all classified employees holding those positions described in Appendix A, attached hereto and incorporated by reference as a part of this Agreement. All newly created positions, except those that lawfully are designated certificated, management, confidential or supervisory, shall be assigned to the bargaining unit. The determination of management, confidential or supervisory employees shall be made by the mutual agreement between the District and CSEA, in accordance with the provisions of S.B. 160. Disputed cases shall be submitted to the Public Employment Relations Board (PERB) for resolution. The bargaining unit may be expanded to other classes by mutual agreement of the District and CSEA subject to the rule of PERB.

2.1.1 Scope of Representation

The scope of representation shall include negotiable items as established by statute or interpretive case law of PERB.

- 2.1.2 No other group or organization or representative thereof shall be permitted to engage on behalf of any employee included in the unit in any meeting and negotiating with the District over wages, hours, health and welfare benefits, as defined in Government Code Section 53200, leave, transfer and reassignment policies, safety condition of employment, class size, procedures to be used for the evaluation of employees organizational security, and procedures for processing grievances pursuant to Sections 3548.5, 3548.6, 3548.7 and 3548.8 of the Act. The above mandatory topics of negotiation may be expanded by statute or interpretive case law of PERB.
- 2.1.3 CSEA recognizes the Board as the duly elected representative of the people and agrees to negotiate only with the Board or the duly authorized representatives designated by the Board to act in its behalf. The exclusive representative agrees further that neither it nor any of its members or agents will attempt to negotiate privately or individually with any Board member or administrator.

2.1.4 The exclusive representative agrees that neither it nor its members or agents will attempt to represent in any negotiations or grievances the interests of anyone other than members of the unit and that the interest of pupils, parents, the public, the Board and other employees will be the sole concern of the Board and/or these respective parties. The exclusive representative recognized the Board as the duly constituted representative of the educational interests of the pupils

2.2 Negotiations Procedures

2.2.1 Normally, between 60 and 90 days before the expiration of this mutual agreement, the exclusive representative shall present to the Board during a public session, in writing, all new proposals covering negotiable items which are to be negotiated for the successor agreement.

2.2.2 <u>Tentative Agreement</u>

During negotiations, items tentatively agreed upon shall be reduced to writing and initialed by both parties.

2.2.3 <u>Final Approval</u>

When the exclusive representative and the District reach tentative agreement on all matters being negotiated, the complete written agreement will be submitted to the Board for ratification.

- 2.2.4 Upon request, the Board shall furnish CSEA with one (l) copy of all non-privileged public budget reports and other non-privileged federal, state, and county reports which contain information relating articles of this Agreement.
- 2.2.5 CSEA may use the services of consultants or other employee representatives for the purpose of representation of unit members.
- 2.2.6 CSEA shall have the right to designate five (5) unit members who shall be given reasonable release time to participate in negotiations sessions.

2.3 Non-Discrimination

- 2.3.1 The District and CSEA agree that neither party will unlawfully discriminate against any employee in the bargaining unit because of such individual's race, color, national origin, ancestry, religion, marital status, sex, handicap, age, participation in lawful union activities, or any other basis established under federal or state law as grounds for unlawful discrimination.
- 2.3.2 Any alleged violation of Section 2.3.1 above shall not be subject to the grievance procedure. All such alleged violations shall be processed in accordance with the requirements of other agencies duly authorized to consider such allegations, i.e., the Public Employment Relations Board, the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission and like agencies.

ARTICLE III MANAGEMENT RIGHTS

- 3.1 The Board on its own behalf, and on behalf of the electors of the District, hereby retains and reserves unto itself, without limitation, all powers, rights, authority, duties and responsibilities conferred upon and vested in it by the laws, Constitution of the State of California, and the Constitution of the United States, including, but without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the exclusive right and power to determine, implement, supplement, change, modify or discontinue, in whole or in part, temporarily or permanently, any of the following:
 - 3.1.1 The legal, operational, geographical, and organizational structure of the District, including the chain of command, division of authority, organizational divisions and subdivisions, external and internal boundaries of all kinds, and advisory commissions and committees;
 - 3.1.2 The financial structure of the District, including all sources and amounts of financial support, income, funding, taxes and debt, and all means and conditions necessary or incidental to the securing of same, including compliance with any qualifications or requirements imposed by law or by funding sources as a condition of receiving funds; all investment policies and practices; all budgetary matters and procedures, including the budget calendar, the budget formation process, accounting methods, fiscal and budget control policies and procedures, and all budgetary allocations, reserves, and expenditures apart from those expressly allocated to fund the wage and benefit obligations of this Agreement;
 - 3.1.3 The acquisition, disposition, number, location, types and utilization of all District properties, whether owned, leased, or otherwise facilities, grounds, parking areas, and other improvements, and the personnel, work, service and activity functions assigned to such properties;

- 3.1.4 All services to be rendered to the public; the nature, methods, quality, quantity, frequency, and standards of service, and the personnel, facilities, vendors, supplies, materials, vehicles, equipment, and tools to be rendered and functions to be performed, including educational, support, construction, maintenance and repair services;
- 3.1.5 The utilization of personnel not covered by this Agreement including, but not limited to, substitutes, casual temporary and provisional personnel, consultants, confidential employees and supervisory or managerial personnel, and the methods of selection and assignment of such personnel;
- 3.1.6 The educational policies, procedures, objectives, goals and programs, including those relating to curriculum, course content, textbook selection, educational equipment and supplies, admissions, attendance, transfers, grade level advancement, guidance, grading, testing, records, health and safety, conduct, discipline, transportation, food services, racial and ethnic balance, extra-curricular and co-curricular activities, and emergency situations, and the substantive and procedural rights and obligations of students, parents, teachers, other personnel, and the public with respect to such matters;
- 3.1.7 The selection, classification, direction, promotion, demotion, discipline, evaluation and termination of all personnel of the District, affirmative action and equal employment policies and programs to improve the District's utilization of women and minorities; the assignment of employees to any location (subject only to the express terms of this Agreement regarding transfers), and also to any facilities, classrooms, functions, equipment, and the determination as to whether, when, and where, there is a job opening;
- 3.1.8 The job classification and the content and qualifications thereof;
- 3.1.9 The duties and standards of performance for all employees; and whether any employee adequately performs such duties and meets such standards, subject only to the express terms of the Article of this Agreement governing Evaluation procedures;

- 3.1.10 The dates, times and hours of operation of District facilities, functions, and activities, work schedules; the school calendar;
- 3.1.11 Safety and security measures for students, the public, properties, facilities, vehicles, materials, supplies, and equipment, including the various rules and duties for all personnel with respect to such matters;
- 3.1.12 The rules, regulations, and policies for all employees, students and the public, subject only to clear and explicit limitations contained in this Agreement; educational equipment and supplies, admissions, attendance, transfers, grade level advancement, guidance, grading, testing records, health and safety, conduct, discipline, transportation, food services, racial and ethnic balance, extra-curricular and co-curricular activities, and emergency situations, and the substantive and procedural rights and obligations of students, parents, teachers, other personnel, and the public with respect to such matters;
- 3.1.13 The termination or layoff of employees as the result of the exercise of any of the rights of the District not limited by the clear and explicit language of this Agreement; and
- 3.1.14 The rights to amend, modify, or rescind the provisions of this Agreement in the event of an emergency as determined by the Board. An emergency is defined as an act of God or other act or occurrence which substantially impairs the normal operation of the District.
- 3.2 The exercise of the foregoing powers, rights, authority, duties and responsibilities by the District, the adoption of policies, rules and regulations, and practice in the furtherance thereof, and the use of judgment and discretion in connection therewith, shall be limited only by the specific and express terms of this Agreement and then only to the extent such specific and express terms are in conformance with federal and state law. The exercise of any right reserved to the District herein in a particular manner or the non-exercise of any such right shall not be deemed a waiver of the District's right or preclude the District from exercising the right in a different manner.

ARTICLE VI ORGANIZATIONAL SECURITY

PREAMBLE:

It is the expressed intention of the parties that the provisions of this Article respectfully balance the rights of individual employees to join or to decline to join an employee organization of their choice, and the right of the parties to enter into an "organizational security" Agreement.

4.1 Each member of the bargaining unit shall, as a condition of continued employment, either join CSEA or pay a service fee in amount no greater than the periodic dues of CSEA.

4.2 Requirements

- 4.2.1 If a unit member belongs to a religious body whose traditional tenets or teachings include objections to joining or financially supporting employee organizations, said unit member qualifies for a fair share service fee exemption. Unit members who wish to request such an exemption, must mail any documents or other information to support their request to CSEA, P.O. Box 640, San Jose, CA 95106 Attn: Assistant to the Executive Director.
- 4.2.2 With respect to all sums deducted by the District following Section 4.2.1 above, whether membership dues or service fee, the District agrees to promptly remit such monies to the Association accompanied by an alphabetical list of unit members for whom such deductions have been made, categorizing them as to membership or non-membership in the Association and indicating any changes in personnel from the list previously furnished. There shall be no charge to the Association for such deduction.
- 4.2.3 For this Article, "employment date" of new employees shall mean the date of first paid service to the District in a probationary position.

4.3 Hold Harmless Provision

- 4.3.1 CSEA agrees to reimburse the District, its officers and agents for all legal fees and legal costs incurred after notice to CSEA in defending against any court or administrative action challenging the legality of the organizational security provisions of this Agreement or the implementation thereof.
- 4.3.2 CSEA agrees to reimburse the District, its officers and agents for any award or compromise of damages of liability arising out of any court or administrative action challenging the legality of the organizational security provisions of this Agreement or the implementation thereof, provided the District, or other party claiming reimbursement has complied with the terms of this article and has promptly notified CSEA of its awareness of such an action
- 4.3.3 CSEA shall have the exclusive right to decide and determine whether any such action shall be compromised, resisted, defended, tried or appealed.
- **4.4** CSEA agrees to furnish any information required by the District to fulfill the provisions of this Article and the District shall not be held in any jeopardy or liability should CSEA fail to provide such information.
- 4.5 The District Human Resources Office shall notify the CSEA Chapter President of all scheduled classified orientation sessions in a reasonable time prior to each session. If a CSEA representative is not available to meet with the new employee at the end of the District's orientation session, CSEA shall have the option to schedule an alternate session with the new employee.

4.6 Information

The District shall provide each new employee with a sealed packet prepared by CSEA that is separate from other new employee information that is provided by the District.

4.7 Any employee rehired from the reemployment list, shall return to work without having to go through the organizational security procedure again. They shall be reinstated to the same status they held at the time of layoff. Upon notification by the District, CSEA will notify the rehired employee, in writing, of the earliest opportunity to legally change their status. (This Section is the same as Section 19.5.10).

ARTICLE V CONSULTATION RIGHTS

- 5.1 Subject to Section 5.2, the Board agrees that all written Board policies which affect members of the unit represented by CSEA which do not fall within the scope of representation as defined by Section 3543.2 of the Act shall remain in effect unless modified by the Board.
- 5.2 If the Board determines that it is the best interest of the District to change any written policy described in Section 5.1 above, the Board shall provide notice to CSEA before taking Board action on any such proposed policy change. The Board or its designated representative shall, upon request, meet and confer with CSEA about the proposed change in District policy.
- 5.3 The Board shall have the unrestricted right to make the final decision regarding policies outside the scope of bargaining.

ARTICLE VI HOURS AND OVERTIME

6.1 Workweek

The workweek of a classified employee, as defined in Section 45103 or Section 45256, shall be forty (40) hours. The workday shall be eight (8) hours. These provisions do not restrict the extension of a regular workday or workweek on an overtime basis when such is necessary to carry on the business of the District. Nothing in this section shall be deemed to bar the District from establishing a workday of less than eight (8) hours or a workweek of less than forty (40) hours for all or any of its classified positions.

(Exception - See 6.20 Flexible Hours)

6.2 Workday

The length of the workday shall be set by the District for each unit member. Each bargaining unit employee shall be assigned a fixed, regular and ascertainable minimum number of hours, which shall be not over a period of more than five (5) consecutive days.

6.2.1 Members of Unit-2 will be provided with notification of the starting date, times and hours of employment at least 20 working days prior to the start of the work year. After the start of the work year, unit members will be notified of changes or adjustments to the schedule at least 10 working days prior to any change. No reduction in hours shall occur except in accordance with applicable rules and Article 19.7 of this Agreement. The notification period may be waived by mutual agreement of the unit member and the immediate supervisor. Normally, but not as a binding practice, the starting date will be the first day students report to school.

6.3 Adjustment of Assigned Time

Any employee in the bargaining unit who works an minimum of thirty (30) minutes or more per day in access of his or her regular part-time assignment for twenty (20) working days or more shall have his or her regular assignment adjusted upward to reflect the longer hours, effective with the next pay period.

6.4 Increase in Hours

6.4.1 <u>For unit - 1</u>

When additional hours are available to a part-time position on a regular basis, the hours shall be offered to the employee in the unassigned time with the greatest bargaining unit seniority. If the senior employee declines the assignment, it shall be offered to the remaining employees in the class in descending order of bargaining unit seniority until the assignment is made.

6.4.2 For Unit - 2

When additional hours are available to a part-time position on a regular basis, every effort will be made to give the hours to the employee at the site in the appropriate class, with the appropriate skills, with the greatest bargaining unit seniority. If the senior employee declines the assignment, the above mentioned criteria will be used in offering the hours to other employees.

6.5 Lunch period

- Any employee covered by this Agreement shall be entitled to an uninterrupted, unpaid lunch period after the employee has been on duty for five (5) hours. The length of time for such lunch period shall be for no longer than one (1) hour, or less than one-half (½) hour, and shall be scheduled for full-time employees at or about the midpoint of each work shift.
- 6.5.2 A full-time employee required to work during his or her lunch period shall receive pay at the rate of time and one-half (1 ½) the regular rate of pay during the normal lunch period.

6.6 Rest periods

- All bargaining unit employees shall be granted rest periods which, insofar as practicable, shall be in the middle of each work period as provided for in Section 6.6.3, at the rate of fifteen (15) minutes per three and one-half (3 ½) hours worked or major fraction thereof.
- Rest periods of a total of thirty (30) minutes for full-time employees on evening or special work shifts shall be scheduled following consultation between the employee and the employee's supervisor.

Rest periods are a part of the regular workday and shall be compensated at the regular rate of pay for the employee.

6.7 Rest Facilities

The District shall make available at each work site adequate lunch room and rest room for classified employee use.

6.8 Voting Time Off

If an employee's work schedule is such that it does not allow enough time to vote in any federal, state or local election in which the employee is entitled to vote, the District shall arrange to allow enough time for such voting by the employee without loss of pay.

6.9 Overtime

Except as otherwise provided herein, all overtime hours as defined in this section shall be compensated at a rate of pay equal to time and one-half (1 ½) the regular rate of pay for all work suffered or permitted. Overtime is defined to include any time worked in excess of eight (8) hours in any one day or on any one shift or in excess of forty (40) hours in any calendar week, whether such hours are worked prior to the commencement of a regular assigned starting time or subsequent to the assigned quitting time.

(Exception - See 6.20 Flexible Hours)

- 6.9.1 All hours worked beyond the workweek of five (5) consecutive days shall be compensated at the overtime rate commencing on the sixth consecutive day of work.
- 6.9.2 All hours worked on the seventh consecutive day of work up to seven and one-half (7 ½) hours shall be compensated at double the regular rate of pay.
- 6.9.3 All hours worked in excess of seven and one-half hours (7 ½) hours on the sixth and seventh consecutive day shall be compensated at two and one-half (2 ½) times the regular rate of pay.
- 6.9.4 All hours worked on holidays designated by this Agreement shall be compensated at two and one-half $(2\frac{1}{2})$ times the regular rate of pay.

6.10 Split Shift Differential - Compensation

All employees in the bargaining unit whose assigned shift contains at least one (1) unpaid period of one (1) hour or more shall be paid a shift differential premium of five (5%) percent above the regular rate of pay for all hours worked.

6.11 Shift Differential - Compensation

Any employee in the bargaining unit whose assigned work shift commences (for unit-1) prior to 5:30 a.m. or whose work shift ends after 5:30 p.m., or (for unit-2 members) commences after 2:00 p.m. shall be paid a shift differential premium of five (5%) percent above the regular rate of pay for all hours worked.

6.11.1 Split Site Differential

All employees who are required to work at two (2) different work sites (Strand and another site) in the same day shall be paid a split site differential of five percent (5%) in addition to their regular salary plus mileage.

6.12 Compensatory Time

Compensatory time shall be taken at a time mutually acceptable to the employee in the bargaining unit and the District within twelve (12) months of the date on which it was earned. If the compensatory time has not been taken within twelve (12) months of the date on which it was earned, the District shall pay the employee in cash for all such time at the appropriate overtime rate based on the employee's current rate of pay.

6.13 Overtime - Distribution by Seniority

Overtime shall be distributed to employees in the bargaining unit within each department in order of bargaining unit seniority if the employee meets the qualifications or needs. Each semester employees will be given the opportunity to indicate their interest in overtime. Site training, where necessary, will be conducted during the summer and at least once a semester to qualify the employee. In the event that an employee is absent during a training session, every reasonable effort shall be made to provide training to the interested employee at the earliest opportunity for both parties. If the employee with the greatest bargaining unit seniority elects to refuse the overtime assignment, it shall be offered to employees in the bargaining unit in descending order of seniority until the assignment is made. Refusal by a senior employee in the bargaining unit of any overtime assignment shall not waive his or her right under this section to be offered any subsequent overtime assignment in order of seniority.

6.14 Minimum Call-In Time

Any employee called in to work on a day when the employee is not scheduled to work shall receive a minimum of four (4) hours pay at the appropriate rate of pay under this Agreement or the normal daily assignment, whichever is less.

6.15 Right of Refusal

Except in cases of emergencies, an employee shall have the right to reject any offer or request for overtime or call-back, on-call or call-in time.

6.16 Stand-By Time

All standby time shall be considered as regular hours worked and shall be compensated on a straight time or overtime basis as are other hours worked under this Agreement.

6.17 Call-Back Time

Any employee called back to work after completion of his or her regular assignment shall be compensated for at least two (2) hours, plus travel time paid at the overtime rate, irrespective of the actual time worked.

6.18 Non-Regular Session Assignment

When work normally and customarily performed by bargaining unit employees is required to be performed at times other than during a regular academic year, the work shall be assigned to bargaining unit employees in the appropriate classification(s) as provided in this section.

- 6.18.1 When necessary to assign bargaining unit employees not regularly so assigned to serve during a non-regular session, the assignment shall be made in order of bargaining unit seniority from a list of employees who have applied for the vacancies.
- An employee who accepts a non-regular session assignment in accordance with the provisions of this section shall receive, on a pro rata basis, no less than the compensation and benefits applicable to that classification during the regular academic year, and in no event shall his or her compensation and benefits be less, on a prorated basis, than the compensation and benefits he or she was receiving immediately prior to the commencement of the non-regular session assignment.

No prorating compensation and benefits shall be applied on any basis other than on the relationship which the number of hours assigned for non-regular session employment bears to the number of hours assigned to the employee during the regular September-June academic year.

- 6.18.3 All hours assigned to an employee for a non-regular session assignment shall be considered "hours in paid status" for the purposes of this Agreement.
- 6.18.4 If a part-time employee's average paid time, excluding overtime for which the employee receives compensation at a rate of least equal to time and one-half, exceeds his or her average assigned time by 50 minutes or more per working day in any quarter, the hours paid per day for compensable leaves of absence and holidays in the succeeding quarter shall be equivalent to the average hours paid per working day in the preceding quarter, excluding overtime.
- 6.18.5 Except where vacation entitlement is accrued on the basis of actual hours of paid regular service, vacation entitlement shall be based on the average number of hours worked per working day during the portion of the school year in which the employee is assigned to duty.

6.19 Vacation

- 6.19.1 Regular full-time unit members who have duty year consisting of twelve (12) months will be allowed ten (10) duty days vacation at the end of one (1) year of service and during each duty year thereafter until three (3) years of service have been completed.
- Regular full-time unit members who have a duty year consisting of twelve (12) months and who have rendered continuous paid service for three (3) years will thereafter earn twelve (12) duty days vacation annually.
- 6.19.3 Regular full-time unit members who have a duty year consisting of twelve (12) months and who have rendered continuous paid service for five (5) years will thereafter earn fifteen (15) duty days vacation annually.

- Regular full-time unit members who have a duty year consisting of twelve (12) months and who have rendered continuous paid service for twelve (12) years will thereafter earn eighteen (18) duty days vacation annually.
- 6.19.5 Regular full-time unit members who have a duty year consisting of twelve (12) months and who have rendered continuous paid service for twenty (20) years will thereafter earn twenty (20) duty days vacation annually.
- 6.19.6 Regular part-time unit members or regular full-time unit members who work less than twelve (12) months each duty year will earn vacation time on a prorated basis.
- 6.19.7 Earned vacation will not become a vested right for unit members until completion of the unit member's initial six (6) months of employment with the District. Unit members who have rendered continuous paid service of six (6) months or more will be allowed termination pay for unused but earned current year's vacation.
- 6.19.8 A unit member who has rendered five (5) years of service and wishes to accumulate ten (10) days of his or her vacation time may do so by written request approved by his or her supervisor and the superintendent. The accrued ten (10) days must be taken not later than the end of the next fiscal year. This time may be added to the following year's accrued vacation.
- Vacations for unit members who are assigned to ten (10) or eleven (11) month work years shall be taken on specified dates during the school holidays. Sections 6.19.8 and 6.19.10 shall apply to earned vacation time in excess of that which is used on these dates.
- 6.19.10 Employees shall have the right to use their vacation at any time during the year with due consideration given to the workload.
- 6.19.11 Overtime work shall not be counted in determining vacation entitlement.

6.19.12 Vacation may, with the approval of the employer, be taken at any time during the school year. If the employee is not permitted to take his full annual vacation, the amount not taken shall accumulate for use in the next year.

Employees who work less than 12 months, who are other than school day only employees, may have their unused vacation paid off, by written request, at the end of the fiscal year.

6.20 Flexible Hours

- 6.20.1 This article expands the definition of workday in paragraph 6.1 and overtime hours in paragraph 6.9.
- 6.20.2 The District is permitted to offer a flexible work schedule to those employees who express a desire to work this type of schedule.
- 6.20.3 The flexible schedule permits an increase in the number of hours worked per day (without the requirement for the District to pay overtime), which could result in a reduction of days worked per week, so long as the total number of hours per week remain the same. Other provisions for overtime pay remain unchanged.
- 6.20.4 Participation in a flexible work schedule is voluntary on the part of the employee when offered by the District.
- 6.20.5 If the District or the employee determine it is not in their best interests to continue with an agreed upon flexible work schedule, the employees work schedule shall revert to the same number of hours per day and days per week as was being worked before the flexible schedule was implemented.
- 6.20.6 Reasonable notice shall be given prior to any work schedule changes.
- 6.20.7 The above provisions shall be interpreted in a manner that is consistent with applicable law.

6.21 Minimum Days

No unit member shall have his or her hours reduced, or be required to use vacation time, on minimum days during which pupils would otherwise have been in attendance but are not and for which certificated personnel receive regular pay, classified personnel shall also receive regular pay whether or not they are required to report for duty that day. (Ref. Ed Code Section 45203).

ARTICLE VII HOLIDAYS

7.1 Scheduled Holidays

The Board agrees to provide all employees in the bargaining unit with the following paid holidays:

New Years Day

Martin Luther King Day

Lincoln's Birthday

Washington's Birthday

Thursday before Easter

Friday before Easter

Memorial Day

Independence Day

Labor Day

Admission Day (or day in lieu thereof as determined by the Board)

Veterans Day

Thanksgiving Day

Friday after Thanksgiving

Christmas Day

Four (4) days of Christmas vacation (as determined by the

Superintendent)

7.2 Additional Holidays

Every day appointed by the president or Governor of this state for a public feast, Thanksgiving, or holiday, or any day declared a holiday for unit members by the Governing Board shall be a paid holiday for all employees in the bargaining unit.

7.3 Holiday Eligibility

An employee must be in paid status on the working day immediately preceding or succeeding the holiday to be paid for the holiday.

7.4 Holidays on Saturday or Sunday

When a holiday as defined falls on a Saturday, the preceding workday, not a holiday shall be celebrated as that holiday. When a holiday as defined falls on a Sunday, the following workday, not a holiday shall be celebrated as that holiday.

7.5 A unit member who is not normally assigned to duty during the school recesses of winter and spring breaks shall be paid for the holidays provided for that fall within such recess periods if such unit members were in paid status during any portion of the working day of their normal assignment immediately before or after the recess period.

ARTICLE VIII BENEFITS

8.1 Unit 1 Insurance Coverage

8.1.1 The District shall provide medical, dental, vision care and life insurance benefits, as outlined in Appendix B, to each regular unit member who has a regular assignment of an average of twenty (20) hours per week. Any benefits available to the spouse of a unit member are also available to a registered domestic partner of a unit member. The District will pay premium payments up to 65% of the employee plus family composite rate.

8.2 Unit 2 Insurance Coverage

- 8.2.1 The District shall provide medical, dental, vision care, life insurance benefits, as outlined in Appendix B, to each regular employee of the unit who is regularly assigned at least thirty (30) per week. Any benefits available to the spouse of a unit member are also available to a registered domestic partner of a unit member. The District will pay premium payments up to 65% of the employee plus family composite rate. A unit member who is regularly assigned between twenty (20) and thirty (30) hours per week may receive benefits prorated as to costs, with the district paying its prorated portion for those benefits and the employee paying the remainder. (Proration shall be based upon full time employment of thirty (30) hours per week. For this provision, an employee is regularly assigned to his or her position if having served, in attendance, for more than twenty (20) consecutive work days).
- 8.2.2 The District and Unit 2 agree to review information through the joint insurance committee to study the costs and fees for reducing the eligibility to twenty (20) hours. For prorating benefits, thirty (30) hours shall be considered full-time employment. The District shall provide employees with the ability to selectively buy any or all of the benefits offered, if such selective participation is not found to be possible, then the parties shall meet to determine alternatives.

8.3 Unit 1 and Unit 2 Insurance Coverage

The Coronado Unified School District will provide Long Term Disability to all unit members that work thirty (30) or more hours per week at no cost to the unit members or CSEA. Parties agree to explore funding options that will make Long Term Disability insurance available to unit members working less than thirty (30) hours per week.

8.4 Early Retirement Incentive

8.4.1 Subject to the conditions stated, the District will provide the same (full or prorated) medical insurance benefits for any unit member who retires from District service after fifteen (15) years of service to the District in which they were eligible for medical insurance benefits, whether or not the benefits were received.

Early retirement under this section will apply to all eligible unit members who have not reached the age under which they are eligible for full Social Security benefits including Medicare.

- 8.4.2 The District agrees to maintain the present level of benefits and pay any increased costs until June 30, 2008.
- 8.4.3 No unit member retiree shall be eligible to apply for the above benefits until the unit member becomes eligible to receive retirement benefits under the Public Employee Retirement System (PERS).
- 8.4.4 The Districts full contribution under this Section shall cease when the retiree becomes eligible to participate in Medicare. Beginning when the retiree becomes eligible to participate in Medicare, the district will contribute \$500 toward the annual cost of medical insurance. Such contribution shall be paid directly to the insurance provider or to the eligible retiree upon presentation of satisfactory record that the retiree has personally paid at least the same amount to the insurance provider.
- 8.4.5 The benefits provided under this Section shall apply to eligible retirees who have an effective date of retirement after July 1, 1988.

8.5 The parties agree to the continuation of a joint committee to be known as the Benefits Committee. Such committee is composed of District representatives and representatives from CSEA and ACT. The Negotiation Teams of the District, CSEA and ACT or their designated representatives are the members of the committee. This committee shall meet periodically to research and review proposed and existing programs to insure that quality and cost effectiveness criteria are maintained. The committee shall meet periodically with Insurance providers to determine that benefits are being accorded as required by the various benefit programs.

ARTICLE IX SALARY

9.1 Salary Schedule

The salary schedule for members of both Unit-1 and Unit-2 bargaining units shall be as specified in Appendix A, attached to this Agreement.

9.1.1 Initial Placement with Previous Experience

Members shall be placed above Step one if they have related work experience. If the work experience is NOT within the District, and is within the past 10 years, placement will be as follows:

1 year = placement on Step 2 2 years = placement on Step 3

9.1.2 Placement with Experience within the District

If the work experience within the District is within the past 5 years, placement will be as follows:

1 year = placement on Step 2 2 years = placement on Step 3 3 years = placement on Step 4 4 years = placement on Step 5

9.2 Promotion Compensation

A unit member who is promoted to a higher classification shall be placed on the step of the higher salary range which is an nearest to the unit member's present salary without a loss of salary. In addition, an advancement of one (1) step shall be granted to the job-holder for increased job responsibilities.

9.3 Inconsistent Duty Compensation

Unit members who are required and directed by their immediate supervisors to perform higher level duties inconsistent with their normal assigned duties for more than four (4) working days within a fifteen (15) calendar day period shall have their salary adjusted upward. This increase shall be effective for the entire period they are required to work out of classification. The amount of this increase will reasonably reflect the duties of that job classification required to be performed by the unit member outside his or her normal assigned duties.

9.4 Mileage

- 9.4.1 Any unit member required to use his personal automobile in performance of assigned duties shall be entitled to mileage reimbursement at the current IRS rate.
- 9.4.2 Mileage reimbursement shall not be paid for travel to and from the employee's residence.

9.5 Deductions

In addition to the deductions that are required by Article 4 and upon written authorization from a bargaining unit member, the District will deduct from the salary of that member and make appropriate payments for annuities, credit union, charitable donations, or any other plans or programs when such deductions are required or permitted by law.

9.6 Professional Growth Program

- 9.6.1 A Professional Growth Differential of 2.5% will be paid on the employee's total compensation including all differentials, for each 15 semester units earned, up to a maximum of 60 units. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary within this Agreement, an employee may participate only once in the professional Growth Program to the maximum units allowable under the expressed terms of this Agreement.
- 9.6.2 One (1) unit equals fifteen (15) class hours of approved learning activities.
- 9.6.3 Fifteen (15) units equals two hundred twenty-five (225) class hours.

9.6.4 Course Eligibility

Credit will be given for the completion of college, adult education or trade school courses pertinent to the unit member's job assignment or promotional job opportunities. The courses must be completed with a grade of "C" or better or "pass" if grading is done on a pass/fail basis. Professional Growth credits must be earned after employment. Credit shall be given for District paid in-service approved by the superintendent.

9.6.5 District-Approved Educational Agencies and Special Programs

Included in these activities are programs, workshops, seminars, institutes, or lectures offered by colleges, adult schools, or professional associations approved by the Professional Growth Review Committee according to the program guidelines of special events approved by the District superintendent under the recommendation of the Committee.

9.6.6 Procedure

The unit member shall submit a Declaration of Intent to the superintendent, or his designee, for approval of the activity he or she wishes credit for. A records envelope will be maintained by the unit member containing reports cards, transcripts, and other acceptable certification of courses completed. District forms shall be used for approved activities not offering certificates. These must be presented by the participant to the superintendent or his/her designee, for approval. The employee shall be notified in writing within ten (10) working days stating whether the request is approved or denied. If denied, the reason for the denial shall be stated. Should the request be denied because information is missing or is insufficient, the request may be resubmitted when such information is available. If approval is given, earned increases will be effective at the start of the next regular pay period

9.6.7 Appeal Procedure

If the increase is denied, the employee may appeal the decision of the superintendent through the filing of a grievance, subject to the provisions of Article 15.

9.6.8 A sample application form for the professional Growth Program is attached to this Agreement and marked as Appendix E.

9.7 Supplementary Salary for Verified Trade Skills

9.7.1 Any maintenance or grounds maintenance worker may receive a supplementary monthly salary which shall be in addition to all other salary if the maintenance worker possesses verified technical/trade skills which are in addition to the skills called for in the position currently held.

Skills for which supplementary salary may be received are: Plumbing, Carpentry, Electrical, Welding, Electronics, Heating, Ventilating & Air conditioning (HVAC), and such other skills as may be determined by the District.

9.7.2 Limitations

- (a) No maintenance worker may receive supplementary salary for more than two (2) skills, unless this limitation is waved by the Board of Education.
- (b) No more than one (1) maintenance worker may receive supplementary salary for any single listed skill unless this limitation is waived by the Board of Education.

9.7.3 <u>Verification of Skills</u>

One of the following will be considered a verification of skills:

- (a) A certificate or diploma from training or trade school which is a public school or trade school accredited by the appropriate State agency.
- (b) Training offered or arranged by the District.
- (c) Test administered by the District or agency or professional trades persons hired by the District.

9.7.4 <u>Supplemented Salary</u>

Salary supplement shall be \$100.00 per month for each skill area subject to limitations set forth in paragraph 9.8.2.

9.8 "Y" Rating

Any unit member whose salary would be reduced by any action not related to layoff, disciplinary action or reduction in hours shall continue to receive their former rate of pay. The employee shall not receive normal step or general salary increases until the scheduled salary exceeds their former rate of pay.

ARTICLE X LEAVES

10.1 Sick Leave

- 10.1.1 Subject to the terms of this Agreement, the Board shall provide for a paid leave of absence from duty for any unit member who is compelled to be absent from duty because of accident, illness, or quarantine.
- 10.1.2 Unit members employed five (5) days per week are entitled to twelve (12) days sick leave each fiscal year beginning on the first day of employment. Unit members employed for the full school year for less than five (5) days per week are entitled to twelve (12) days divided by five (5) days and multiplied by the number of days worked per week each school year.
- 10.1.3 Sick leave shall be accumulative from year to year.
- Unit members who work five (5) days per week but for less than a full-time are entitled each year to twelve (12) days of sick leave equal in length to the length of the day regularly worked. Should a unit member be transferred to a day of greater or lesser time, the number of accumulated sick leave days will changed to reflect the actual hours of sick leave earned. These hours will then be converted into days of appropriate length. (EXAMPLE: An employee working four (4) hours per day has accumulated twelve (12) days of sick leave. This is a total of forty-eight (48) hours sick leave. The employee is then assigned an additional two (2) hours. The employee is now working six (6) hours per day. The forty-eight (48) hours accumulated before will be adjusted to eight (8) days at the longer assignment. The total sick leave is still forty-eight (48) hours).
- 10.1.5 Unit members newly hired for less than a full work year shall earn sick leave in direct proportion to that earned by a person employed a full year in the same position. However, a new employee of the District shall not be eligible to take more than six (6) days, or the proportionate amount to which he may be entitled under this section, until the first day of the calendar month after completion of six (6) months of active service with the District.

- Once each fiscal year, the regular unit member shall be credited with one hundred (100) days of sick leave at half pay; in addition to their accumulated regular sick leave "bank." Half-pay sick leave shall not be cumulative and shall not be used until all full-pay sick leave has been exhausted. The paid sick leave provided for in this section shall be in addition to other paid leaves provided for in this article. A unit member may, upon request, use any vacation to which he is entitled after exhausting his full-pay sick leave and before starting half-pay sick leave.
- 10.1.7 A permanent unit member who has exhausted all entitlement to sick leave, vacation, compensated overtime, non-industrial accident or illness, may be granted additional leave, paid or unpaid, not to exceed six (6) months. The Board may renew the leave of absence, paid or unpaid, for two (2) additional six (6) month periods or such lesser leave periods that it may provide but not to exceed a total of eighteen (18) months.
- 10.1.8 A unit member, upon ability to resume the duties of a position within the classification to which he was assigned, may do so at any time during the leave of absence granted under this section and any time lost shall not be considered a break in service. Any employee who has been absent for more than ten (10) consecutive work days may be required to provide medical clearance to return to work and/or to be subject to a fitness-for-duty examination arranged and paid for by the District.
- 10.1.9 If, after using all leaves of absence, paid or unpaid, the unit member is still unable to assume the duties of his position; he shall be placed on a reemployment list for a period of thirty-nine (39) months.
- 10.1.10 If at any time during the proscribed thirty-nine (39) months, the unit member can assume the duties of his position, he shall be reemployed in the first vacancy in the classification of his previous assignment. The re-employment will take preference over all other applicants except those laid off for lack of work or lack of funds in which case he shall be ranked according to his proper seniority.

Upon resumption of his duties, the break in service will be disregarded and he shall be fully restored as a permanent employee. The District may require medical clearance for the employee to return to work or a fitness-for-duty examination arranged and paid for by the District.

- 10.1.11 Unit members absent more than three (3) consecutive days may be required to submit a physician's statement or that of a person authorized by a well-organized religious sect, denomination or organization to treat people stating the reason for absence and the date of illness. The District need not assume that a unit member's statement established disability conclusively, but may require a review and examination by a physician selected by the District or a practitioner of the unit member's faith selected by the District.
- 10.1.12 A sick leave absence shall begin when the unit member or agent of the unit member calls in to report the absence. A sick leave day, once started may not be reinstated as a working day without approval of the Superintendent or his designated representative. Failure to notify the immediate supervisor or designated representative one-half (½) hour before the day of absence may be cause for disciplinary action. Notification of return to duty should be given the day before the day of returning, but not less than two (2) hours before the normal starting time.
- 10.1.13 Whatever the claim of disability, no day of absence shall be considered a sick leave day on which any employees of the District have engaged in a concerted work stoppage, unless the employee was legitimately absent the preceding day and provides such certification as is required by the Superintendent.
- 10.1.14 The personnel records of this District shall show the attendance of each employee, and such days as that employee may be absent for illness, accident or other cause. A record shall be maintained of earned but unused sick leave days accumulated by each employee.
- 10.1.15 Upon request by a unit member, and supported by a written certificate from a physician specifying illness on normal working days during a vacation period, the Superintendent may authorize either:

- (a) Extension of the vacation period by an equal number of working days.
- (b) Equivalent time off at such time or times as the work needs of the District shall permit.
- 10.1.16 The decision of the Superintendent regarding 10.1.15 shall be based upon the unit member's attendance record, evaluations, the physician's certificate, and circumstances relating to the request.
- 10.1.17 The District may require a statement from a doctor or a medical practitioner for a sick leave of three (3) days or less if the District suspects abuse of sick leave; provided, however, that the District must first consult with an Association representative concerning that employee's absence.
- 10.1.18 Upon request, a regular classified employee who is evaluated by a physician(s) and determined to be incapable of performing his or her regular duties to injury or illness, may, with approval of the Board of Education, be reassigned to duties which he or she can perform. If the employee is reassigned to a position in a lower classification, the Board of Education shall continue to pay the employee the wage or salary of his or her former classification. Within six (6) months of reassignment, the employee shall be reevaluated by a physician, whose recommendation shall be considered in the Board's determination if the employee shall be returned to his or her former position. In any event, a classified employee's reassignment at his or her former (higher) salary shall be limited to a maximum of six (6) months.

10.2 Pregnancy Disability Leave/Maternity Leave

The Board shall provide leaves of absence for any female classified employee of the District whose absence is required by pregnancy, miscarriage, or childbirth or recovery associated with any of the above. Such absence may be requested and granted only according to the provisions of the Agreement applicable to sick leave and uncompensated leave.

The pregnant unit member should advise her supervisors as soon as possible of her intent/need to take a leave of absence or to transfer due to pregnancy, childbirth or related medical conditions.

Unit members must provide at least oral notice, including the anticipation timing and duration of the leave, sufficient to notify the District of the need for a leave. Where the need for a leave of absence is foreseeable, unit members must provide such notice at least thirty (30) days prior to the date the leave is to begin. Where thirty (30) days advance notice is not possible, notice of the need for leave must be given as soon as practical.

10.2.2 This Article shall be implemented in conformity to current applicable laws concerning maternity and pregnancy disability leave when such laws differ from the contract language and as those laws may be amended from time to time.

10.2.3 Certification of Fitness

As a condition of taking a pregnancy disability leave or transfer, the unit member must provide medical certification from her health care provider that she is disabled due to pregnancy, childbirth or related medical conditions. However, pregnancy disability leave will not be denied in emergency situations or where the need for leave was otherwise unforeseeable, even if the unit member did not provide advance notice of the need for the leave or transfer.

The certification should include the date on which the unit member became disabled due to pregnancy; and the probable duration of the period(s) of disability or the period(s) for the advisability of the transfer; and a statement that, due to the disability, the unit member is unable to work at all or to perform any one or more of the essential functions of her position without undue risk to herself, the successful completion of her pregnancy, or to other persons, or a statement that, due to pregnancy, the transfer is medically advisable. Recertification may be required where additional time is requested.

10.2.4 Pregnancy Disability Leave

A pregnant classified employee shall be granted temporary disability leave of absence for disabilities associated with pregnancy, miscarriage, childbirth, or recovery associated with any of the above on the same basis as leave granted for any illness or Injury.

The classified employee and her physician or practitioner shall decide as far in advance of the anticipated date of childbirth as is feasible, the date on which her pregnancy will disable her from the performance of her duties and report that date to her supervisor so substitute services may be arranged. Similarly, the classified employee and her physician or practitioner shall determine and report the date on which she is likely to be physically capable of returning to her duties following the end of her pregnancy. In either case, the Board may verify the claim of the employee that she is disabled from the performance of her duties according to the procedures contained in Section 10.2.3.

10.2.5 Extended Leave of Absence

A woman is "disabled by pregnancy" if, in the opinion of her health care provider, she is unable to work at all or is unable to perform one or more of the essential functions of her job or to perform these without undue risk to herself, the successful completion of her pregnancy, or to other persons. Pregnancy disability leave is available to probationary unit members upon the date of hire. Pregnancy disability leave is available to permanent unit members and will run concurrently with the Family Medical Leave Act ("FMLA").

Pregnancy disability leave is for any period(s) of actual disability caused by pregnancy, childbirth, or related medical conditions. Where medically advisable, pregnancy disability leave may be taken for a reasonable period of time, up to four (4) months (or 88 work days for a full-time employee) per pregnancy. Leaves of absence taken in accordance with the Agreement may exceed four (4) months; however, nothing in this Agreement is intended to extend the provisions of pregnancy disability leave as allowed by law. Pregnancy disability leave does not need to be taken in one continuous period of time, but can be taken on an intermittent leave or reduced work schedule.

A unit member may elect to use any accrued sick leave during the leave, and may also use any accrued vacation leave or other accrued paid leave during that period of time.

10.2.6 An employee who wishes to be absent from her position before she is disabled by pregnancy, miscarriage, childbirth, recovery associated with any of the above or beyond the end of such disability, or both, may request such leave of absence according to the provisions of this Agreement applicable to uncompensated leave. Such leave shall be unpaid and may be required by the Board, if granted, to begin and end at times which will least disrupt the continuity of the District's educational program.

10.2.7 Request for Reasonable Accommodation

A unit member may request a reasonable accommodation for pregnancy, childbirth, or related medical conditions if she provides the District with medical certification from her health care provider. In addition to other possible forms of reasonable accommodation, a pregnant unit member may transfer temporarily to a less strenuous or hazardous position or to less hazardous or strenuous duties if she so requests, the transfer request is supported by proper medical certification, and the transfer can be reasonably accommodated. Such reasonable accommodation will not involve the District creating additional employment that otherwise would not be created, discharging other unit members, transferring another unit member with more seniority, violating a collective bargaining agreement, or promoting any unit member (including the pregnant unit member) to a position for which the unit members is not qualified.

10.3 Personal Necessity Leave

10.3.1 The Board shall, according to law and following the provisions of this Agreement, provide for a unit member's absence for personal necessity while charging such absence to sick leave. The Board reserves the right to specify the manner of proof or personal necessity and type of situations on which such leave will be permitted.

- 10.3.2 For this Section, "immediate family" means the mother, father, grandmother, grandfather, or a grandchild of the unit member or of the spouse of the unit member; and the spouse, son, son-in-law, daughter, daughter-in-law, brother or sister of the unit member, or a relative living in the immediate household of the unit member.
- 10.3.3 The number of days used for personal necessity leave in any school year may not exceed seven (7).
- 10.3.4 Request for personal necessity leave shall be made at least five (5) days in advance to the Superintendent, except for emergency, who reserves the right to verify such request by any appropriate means.
- 10.3.5 Personal necessity leave shall be granted a unit member for the following reasons:
 - (a) Death or serious illness of his or her immediate family.
 - (b) Accident involving his person or property, or the person or property of a member of his or her immediate family.
 - (c) Appearance in any court or before any administrative tribunal as litigant, party, or witness under subpoena or any order made with jurisdiction.
- 10.3.6 "Personal necessity" shall be strictly limited to its common and ordinary meaning, to wit: Circumstances which are truly unavoidable, beyond the control of the unit member, and in the nature of compulsion. Leave for personal convenience, civic, or non-emergency reasons, or circumstances created by the choice of the unit member will not be considered as personal necessity leave.
- 10.3.7 In no event shall a unit member be granted personal necessity leave on days in which the unit member is participating individually or collectively in activities prohibited under the No-Strike provision of this Agreement.

10.3.8 Personal necessity leave may be granted on the death or serious illness of a family member not previously defined or a close personal friend with whom the unit member has a deep and long-standing relationship. The granting of such leave rests within the sole discretion of the superintendent or his designee.

10.4 Bereavement Leave

- 10.4.1 The use of bereavement leave shall be for the death of a member of the unit member's immediate family. A unit member covered by this Agreement is eligible for bereavement leave.
- 10.4.2 For this Section, "immediate family" means mother, father, grandmother, grandfather, or a grandchild of the unit member or the spouse of the unit member; and the spouse, son, son-in-law, daughter, daughter-in-law, brother, or sister of the unit member, or any relative living in the immediate household of the unit member.
- 10.4.3 Any unit member exercising this leave of absence provision shall notify the immediate supervisor as soon as possible of the need for leave and the expected duration of the absence.
- 10.4.4 The number of days of leave of absence for bereavement purposes shall not exceed three (3), or five (5) if more than three hundred fifty (350) miles (one way) or out of state travel is required because of the death of any member of the unit member's immediate family.

10.5 Judicial Appearances and Jury Duty Leave

10.5.1 A unit member shall be entitled to leave without loss of pay to appear in court other than as a litigant or to respond to an official order from another governmental jurisdiction for reasons not brought about through the connivance or misconduct of the unit member. Any witness fee by the unit member shall be paid to the District.

- 10.5.2 If the unit member becomes a litigant and must appear in court by virtue of the performance of duties within the scope of his employment by the District, the unit member shall be entitled to leave without loss of pay, subject to the requirements stated in Section 10.5.1.
- 10.5.3 A unit member shall be entitled to leave without loss of pay when the unit member is required to serve as a juror. Any jury fees received by the unit member shall be paid to the District.

The unit member shall notify the immediate supervisor upon receipt of the jury duty notice. A unit member shall be granted a leave of absence which extends only through that portion of the workday in which the unit member is required to perform jury duty.

10.5.4 Employees required to report for jury duty who are regularly assigned to the night shift shall have their work schedule adjusted to a daytime assignment, the starting time to coincide with the required reporting time for jury duty, for the duration of the jury duty leave. In such circumstances, the night shift employee will receive his/her regular pay. A unit member shall be granted a leave of absence which extends only through that portion of the work day in which the unit member is required to perform jury duty.

10.6 Military Leave

A unit member shall be entitled to any military leave required by law and shall retain all rights and privileges granted by law arising out of the exercise of military leave.

10.7 Uncompensated Leave

- 10.7.1 Uncompensated leave may be taken for the following reasons:
 - (a) Study
 - (b) Training
 - (c) Personal

10.7.2 Uncompensated leave may be granted to permanent employees only. An employee shall have completed at least three (3) years of service with the District to be considered for uncompensated leave. Eligibility for consideration includes a current performance appraisal with an overall rating of Meets Districts Standards or higher.

The request for uncompensated leave must be submitted in writing at least thirty (30) days before the effective date of the leave. In the event of an emergency situation that precludes the thirty (30) day written notice, each case will be evaluated on its own merits.

- 10.7.3 The employee granted an uncompensated leave shall inform the Board within thirty (30) days of the scheduled return date as to his or her intentions. If said notification is not received, proper action shall be taken to terminate employment.
- 10.7.4 At the expiration of the uncompensated leave, the employee shall be offered a position within the class to which he or she was previously assigned.
- 10.7.5 Time on uncompensated leave shall not count as time on the job except continuity toward retirement. While on uncompensated leave, an employee shall not be entitled to insurance benefits provided to his or her peers, unless the employee pays the insurance premium and it is permitted under the current plan.
- 10.7.6 Uncompensated leave may be granted for a maximum of one (1) year upon approval by the Board.

10.8 Industrial Accident and Illness Leave

- 10.8.1 Industrial accident and illness leave shall be granted for illness or injury incurred within the course and scope of an employee's assigned duties.
- An employee who has sustained a job-related injury or illness shall report the injury on the proper District form within the time required by law.

- 10.8.3 To qualify for industrial accident or illness leave coverage, an employee claiming such leave shall be examined and treated, if necessary, by a physician identified by the District, or by the District's industrial accident insurance carrier, or by the employee's physician.
- 10.8.4 Allowable leave shall be for not more than sixty (60) days during which the employee is performing work for the District in any one fiscal year for the same illness or accident.
- 10.8.5 Allowable leave shall not be accumulated from year to year.
- 10.8.6 Industrial accident or illness leave shall begin on the first day of absence.
- 10.8.7 Industrial accident or illness leave shall be reduced by one (1) day for each day of authorized absence regardless of a temporary disability indemnity award.
- 10.8.8 When an Industrial accident or illness leave overlaps into the next fiscal year, the employee shall be entitled to only the amount of unused leave due for the same illness or injury.
- 10.8.9 Any employee receiving benefits as a result of this section shall, during periods of injury or illness, remain within the State of California unless the Board authorizes travel outside the State.
- 10.8.10 During any industrial paid leave of absence, the employee shall endorse to the District the temporary disability indemnity checks received because of his or her industrial accident or illness. The District, in turn, shall issue the employee appropriate salary warrants for payment of the employee's salary and shall deduct normal retirement, other authorized contributions and the temporary disability indemnity, if any, actually paid to and retained by the employee for periods covered by such salary warrants.

Upon conclusion of this industrial paid leave, an employee may use sick leave and vacation benefits providing that any sick leave and vacation leave used when combined with any temporary disability indemnity shall not exceed 100% of the employee's normal pay.

10.8.11 Return to Service

An employee shall be permitted to return to service after an industrial accident or illness only upon presentation of a release from the authorized Workers Compensation physician certifying the employee's ability to return to his or her position classification without restriction or detriment to the employee's physical or emotional well-being.

10.9 Unauthorized Leave/Absence

10.9.1 The District and each employee of the District have entered into an employment relationship whereby the employee has agreed to supply, for a specified time certain designated services to the District for an agreed-upon salary.

These services are to be provided by the classified employee unless he or she is absent as authorized by state or federal law or authorized leave provisions of this Agreement.

- 10.9.2 An employee who is absent from work other than for those days as authorized by state law or authorized leave provisions of this Agreement is taking an unauthorized absence. Such unauthorized absence is a breach of contract. The Board will deduct a salary amount equal to the number of days of unauthorized absences.
- 10.9.3 An employee, after five (5) workdays of unauthorized absence, will be notified in writing by the Superintendent or his/her designee of the breach of contract, and the Board will also be so informed.
- 10.9.4 Unauthorized absence is a breach of contract, and a violation of this Agreement by an employee. An employee who is absent on unauthorized leave shall be subject to such disciplinary action as the Board determines to be appropriate under the circumstances.

10.9.5 Any employee who is absent from his or her employment with the District for five (5) consecutive workdays without authorization, or who fails to return to work within five (5) workdays after the expiration of an authorized leave of absence, shall be considered to have abandoned employment with the school District, and such conduct shall be grounds to institute disciplinary proceedings, which may include termination from employment.

10.10 Personal Business Leave

Upon prior notice to employee's supervisor, a unit member may use up to five (5) days of earned sick leave annually for personal business. Personal business leave shall be limited to circumstances that are serious in nature and that the employee cannot reasonably be expected to disregard, and that necessitate immediate attention, and cannot be taken care of after work hours or on weekends.

Personal business leave shall not be used for such matters as vacation, recreational activities, nor any matter pertaining to an employee's personal business involving an auxiliary income. Disclosure of the general nature of the absence may be required by the supervisor.

The employee shall submit a completed Absence Request/Report form to the school principal or supervisor as soon as possible, but no later than two (2) working days prior to requesting the leave. If an immediate necessity prevents the filing of the Absence Request/Report in advance, the form shall be filed within two (2) working days after return from the utilization of personal business leave.

10.11 Family and Medical Leave

10.11.1 This section shall be implemented in conformity to current applicable laws concerning family and medical leave when such laws differ from the contract language and as those laws are amended from time to time.

10.11.2 Reasons for leave

- (a) The birth of a unit member's child and to care for a newborn;
- (c) The placement of a child with a unit member in connection with the adoption or foster care of a child by a unit member;

- (d) Leave to care for a child, parent or spouse who has a "serious health condition";
- (e) Leave because of a "serious health condition" that makes the unit member unable to perform the functions of his or her position;
- (f) Leave for a qualifying exigency airising out of the fact that the unit member's spouse, son, daughter or parent is a covered military member on active duty (or has been notified of an impending call or order to active duty) in support of a contingency operation;
- (g) Leave to care for a covered service member with a serious injury or illness if the unit member is the spouse, son, daughter, parent or next-of-kin of the service member

10.11.3 Eligibility and Duration of Leave

A unit member who has been employed for 12 months as a regular employee of the District and who has worked at least 1250 hours in the previous twelve (12) month period of employment with the District shall be eligible for FMLA leave for up to 12 work weeks. Under certain circumstances, leave may be taken intermittently. When leave is taken because of the birth or the placement of a child for adoption or foster care, intermittent leave may be taken only if the District agrees. When leave is taken to care for a sick family member, covered service member, or for the unit member's own serious health condition, intermittent leave may be taken when medically necessary. There must be a medical need for leave and it must be that such medical leave can be accommodated through an intermittent leave. The unit member needing such leave must make a reasonable effort to schedule his or her leave so as not to disrupt the District's operations.

10.11.4 Notice Requirements

New - Unit members wishing to take Family and Medical Leave must provide the District with at least thirty (30) day advance notice before the leave is to begin if the need for the leave is foreseeable. If thirty (30) days advance notices is not practicable, the unit member must give the notice as soon as practicable.

The notice to the District shall include the anticipated start date and the duration of the leave. Whenever a unit member provides notice to the District of the need for FMLA leave, the District is required to provide the unit member with a notice detailing the specific expectations and obligations of the unit member and explaining any consequences of the failure to meet these obligations. Failure to comply with notice requirements may result in denial or deferral until proper notice is provided.

10.11.5 Health Benefit Continuation

Group health plan coverage and premium payment shall be maintained on the same basis as if the unit member were in paid status. District and unit member will continue to pay normal cost. However, if the unit member fails to return to work after the expiration of FMLA leave, the District has the right to recover from the unit member its cost of premium payments for group health plan benefits paid during periods of unpaid FMLA leave.

10.11.6 Payroll Status

Although unit members retain "employee "status during FMLA leave, FMLA leave is unpaid. Furthermore, the unit member shall not acquire seniority during unpaid FMLA leave.

10.11.7 Return to Work Guarantee

Upon return from FMLA leave, a unit member is entitled to be restored to the position of employment held by the unit member when the leave commenced, or to an equivalent position with equivalent employment benefits, pay, and other terms and conditions of employment. If the unit member is no longer qualified for the position, the unit member shall be given a reasonable opportunity to fulfill any conditions required for qualification upon return to work.

10.11.8 Coordination FMLA of Other Parent/Other Leave Plans

Under FMLA, a husband and wife employed by the same employer are limited to a combined total of twelve (12) weeks of leave during any twelve (12) month period (1) for the birth of a son or daughter or to care for the child after birth; (2) for placement of a son or daughter with the unit member in connection with adoption or foster care or for care after such placement; or (3) to care for a unit member's parent with a serious health condition.

However, with regard to leave rules for the family members of members of the Armed Forces, the FMLA provides that the aggregate number of work weeks of leave to which both spouses may be entitled may be limited to twenty-six (26) work weeks during a single twelve (12) month period if the leave is for the family member to care for the service member who has a serious injury or illness or is a combination of that type of leave and leave (a) to care for a child after birth; (b) for placement of a son or daughter in connection with adoption or foster care or for care after the placement; or (c) to take care of a parent with a serious health condition

10.11.10 Leave Certification

Unit members shall be required to furnish medical certification of the serious health condition that is the basis for the FMLA leave. Failure to do so may result in delay in granting the FMLA leave.

Medical certification required for the unit member's own serious health condition shall include: (1) the date when the serious health condition began; (2) the probable duration of the condition; and (3) a statement that due to the serious health condition, the unit member is unable to perform the essential functions of his or her position. Medical certification is required when the unit member requests leave for the care of the unit member's seriously ill child, parent, spouse, or domestic partner and shall include:

- (1) The date on which the serious health condition commenced;
- (2) The probable duration of the condition;
- (3) An estimate of the time the health care provider believes the unit member needs to care for the individual requiring the care; and

(4) A statement that the serious health condition warrants the participation of a family member to provide care.

When Service Member FMLA leave is taken to care for an injured or ill service member, unit members must obtain certification completed by an authorized health care provider of the covered Service Member.

Authorized health care providers include: Department of Defense, Veterans Affairs Health Care Provider, or a Department of Defense TRICARE network or non-network authorized private health care provider. The complete and sufficient certification must be submitted to the District within fifteen (15) days unless not practical to do so despite the unit member's diligent, good faith efforts.

When Service Member FMLA leave is taken due to qualified exigency, unit members will be required to provide the District a copy of the covered Service Member's active duty orders or other documentation issued by the military which indicates that the covered Service Member is on active duty or on-call by the U.S. military to active duty service. Complete and sufficient certification must be submitted to the District within fifteen (15) days unless not practical to do so despite the unit member's diligent, good faith efforts.

The District also may require that the unit member obtain subsequent recertification on a reasonable basis, such as upon the expiration of the period of leave originally estimated. The District may also require a unit member on FMLA leave to report periodically on the unit member's status and intent to return to work.

10.11.11 Service Members

10.11.11.1 In addition, Service Member FMLA leave is available to unit members. It is the District's policy to provide Service Member FMLA in conformity with the provisions of the FMLA. Except as stated below, such rights and obligations for Service Member FMLA leave are governed by the existing FMLA policy.

Service Member FMLA leave runs concurrent with other leave entitlements provided under federal, state and local law.

Service Member FMLA provides eligible unit members unpaid leave for any one, or a combination, of the following reasons:

- (a) "qualifying exigency" arising out of a covered family member's (spouse, son, daughter, or parent) active duty or call to active duty in the armed services in support of a contingency operation, which may include, attending certain military events, arranging for alternative child care, addressing certain financial and legal arrangements, attending certain counseling sessions, and attending post-deployment reintegration briefings; and/or
- (b) to care for a covered Service Member, who has incurred in the line of duty on active duty in the Armed Forces an injury or illness provided that such injury or illness renders the covered family member medically unfit to perform his or her duties for which the Service Member is undergoing medical treatment, recuperation, or therapy, or is in outpatient status, or is on the temporary disability retired list.

10.11.11.2 <u>Duration</u>

When Service Member FMLA leave is taken to care for an injured or ill Service Member, an eligible unit member may take up to twenty-six (26) work weeks of leave during a single twelve (12) month period to care for the Service Member. Leave to care for an injured or ill Service Member, when combined with other FMLA qualifying leave, may not exceed twenty-six (26) work weeks in a single twelve (12) month period.

In addition, where spouses are both employed by the District, they may take up to, in aggregate, twenty-six (26) work weeks of Service Member FMLA leave, provided that any portion of the aggregate leave that is not for care of a family Service Member does not exceed twelve (12) work weeks.

10.11.12 Leave on an Intermittent or Reduced Schedule Basis

FMLA leave may be taken in one or more periods and does not have to cover a continuous period of time.

Unit members may take FMLA leave intermittently (in blocks of time, or by reducing their normal weekly or daily work schedule) or on reduced schedule basis if the leave is for the unit member's serious health condition, the serious health condition of the unit member's child, parent, or spouse, to care for an ill or injured covered Service Member, and the intermittent or reduced schedule leave is medically necessary as determined by the health care provider of the person with the serious health condition. Intermittent or reduced schedule leave is also available when necessary for a qualifying exigency. The minimum leave increment shall be the shortest period of time the District's payroll system uses to account for absences or use of leave.

10.12 Catastrophic Leave (As per the provisions of Ed. Code Section 44043.5)

- 10.12.1 The District shall establish a catastrophic illness/injury leave bank to which eligible unit members may voluntarily donate earned sick leave. This donation shall be irrevocable and shall be accomplished by the unit member completing a written form entitled "Catastrophic Leave Bank Donation Form". A donation to the bank shall be a general donation, and shall not be donated to a specific employee.
- 10.12.2 A catastrophic illness/injury is defined to mean an illness/injury that is expected to incapacitate the employee for an extended period of time. The catastrophic leave must be necessary because "taking extended time off work creates a financial hardship on the employee because he or she has exhausted all of his or her sick leave and other paid time off.

- 10.12.3 Qualifications to make donations are as follows:
 - (a) The unit member must have an accumulated sick leave balance of at least fifteen (15) days at the conclusion of the preceding school year.
 - (b) The eligible unit member must donate a minimum of one (1) working day of sick leave hours to the bank and not more than five (5) working days of sick leave hours in any one (1) school year.
- 10.12.4 Any permanent unit member suffering from a catastrophic illness/injury is eligible to apply for use of sick leave days from the bank. To be eligible for use of bank days, the unit member must have exhausted all accrued paid credits, including vacation and other forms of paid leave. The unit member must use all paid leave credits that he or she continues to accrue on a monthly basis before receiving bank hours.

Hours of donations or utilization are based upon full-time employment and utilization for part-time employees shall be credited or used on a pro-rata basis.

The maximum number of hours to be utilized by any one eligible unit member for a single catastrophic illness/injury or the maximum amount per school year shall be the equivalent of sixty (60) working days or the amount available in the bank. A unit member requesting use of bank hours must provide the District with written verification of the illness/injury prepared by a licensed physician of the state of California or the state where the illness/injury occurred. The physician's verification shall address itself to whether the employee's medical condition meets the requirements of Section 10.12.2.

10.12.5 Solicitation for the bank shall be administered by CSEA, Chapter 386. The District shall provide all forms which are to be used for this purpose. All forms shall be forwarded to the personnel Department for processing.

All requests for use of bank hours shall be presented in writing to the personnel Department. Upon receipt, the department shall provide the applicant with a copy of this contract provision. It shall be the responsibility of the applicant to satisfy all conditions of eligibility.

- 10.12.6 The Director of personnel or designee and the CSEA president or designee shall meet to verify employee eligibility. The CSEA representative shall not be a relative of or work in the same department as the applicant.
- 10.12.7 CSEA, Chapter 386, shall hold harmless and indemnify the District from any and all claims, attorneys' fees, judgments, costs or settlements arising from the administration of the section.

ARTICLE XI SAFETY CONDITIONS OF EMPLOYMENT

- 11.1 The District shall comply with the occupational safety and Health Act, as amended, and regulations relating to it.
- 11.2 The Superintendent shall be responsible for making known and putting into effect safety rules for all unit members. A District safety officer may be appointed to oversee the conditions of the District facilities.
- 11.3 The provisions of this article shall not be subject to the grievance procedure. Following completion of the requirements of this article, the employee may at his or her option file a complaint of an alleged safety violation with the appropriate state and/or federal agency responsible for employee safety administration and protection.

ARTICLE XII TRANSFERS

12.1 General

Assignment for members of the unit shall be determined by the superintendent, subject only to the express terms of this Article

12.2 Definitions

- **"Transfer"** is defined as the permanent assignment of a unit member within the same classification from one job site to another.
- 12.2.2 "Voluntary transfer" is a transfer which is initiated through a request submitted by a unit member or is voluntarily accepted by a unit member.
- 12.2.3 "Reassignment" is an involuntary move from one job site or assignment or shift to another site, assignment, or shift.

12.3 Voluntary Transfers

- 12.3.1 Notices of known vacancies for the coming school year shall be posted on each staff bulletin board at each work site. Such notices shall include the applicable position description.
- 12.3.2 A member of the unit may submit a written request for a voluntary transfer after completing one (l) year of service in the District. Such transfer requests will be kept by the District and considered for all relative openings for one (1) year. Transfer requests shall be submitted to the Superintendent. This request shall serve as a transfer application under the provisions of Section 12.3.6.
- 12.3.3 In the consideration of requests for voluntary transfers, the following factors shall be taken into account and applied as appropriate:
 - (a) Affirmative actions goals of the District;
 - (b) Experience in the position;
 - (c) Qualifications required of the position;

Article XII 1

- (d) Prior performance evaluations of the applicant;
- (e) Special circumstances which may exist which may cause a transfer to be desirable or undesirable; and
- (f) Length of service in the District.

An employee denied a requested voluntary transfer under Article 12.3.3 (e) may request in writing and shall be provided with the reasons including special circumstances or conditions causing denial of the transfer.

An employee, who is denied a requested voluntary transfer, may request a review by the superintendent. The review shall be started within five working days of receipt of the request by the superintendent.

12.3.4 <u>Consideration of Voluntary Transfer Requests Before Public Posting</u>

When a new position is created or an existing position becomes vacant, the District shall first offer the opportunity to transfer to unit members serving in the same position in the District, unless special circumstances apply according to 12.3.3 (e) above. All vacancies shall be posted by the District for not less than (4) working days at all work locations before being filled. Any eligible unit member may apply for a transfer to that position by filing a written notice with the Personnel Department of the District. Before starting leave, intersession, or summer recess, a unit member may request the personnel Department to notify him or her of any posted vacancies which occur during such periods. Nothing shall prevent the District from advertising for applicants as soon as a vacancy is known. This section shall be inapplicable in cases where there is a former employee on a 39-month reemployment list who was laid off from the classification in which the vacancy exists.

12.3.5 If an applicant satisfies the criteria mentioned in Section 12.3.3, the unit member with the most District-wide seniority within the same classification shall be selected for the position.

- 12.3.6 Members of the unit with transfer applications on file by the announced closing date may interview for any or all positions for which they qualify.
- 12.3.7 This Article shall in no way abridge the right of the superintendent to fill a vacancy with a new hire when the superintendent determines that the new hire is more qualified to fill the vacancy than existing bargaining unit members requesting a voluntary transfer.

12.4 Reassignments

Reassignments shall be based upon the best interests of the District, but shall not be made for arbitrary or capricious reasons. Upon request, the employee has a right to have the reasons presented in writing prior to implementation.

ARTICLE XIII EVALUATION PROCEDURES

13.1 General

- 13.1.1 The District shall maintain a continuing program of unit member performance evaluations.
- 13.1.2 The evaluation shall contain an appraisal of the employee's performance and, as appropriate, commendations or specific suggestions for improvement.
- 13.1.3 A copy of the form used to evaluate unit members is attached to this Agreement and marked Appendix C-Performance Evaluation Report.

13.2 Time of Evaluation

- 13.2.1 Probationary employees shall receive at least one formal, written evaluation during the probationary period. Normally, this shall be completed at the end of the fifth month of service.
- Permanent employees shall be evaluated January 15th through April 15th each year. After six (6) years of service, permanent unit members may be evaluated every other school year.
- 13.2.3 Special evaluations may be made of either permanent or probationary employees at any time when such evaluations are determined to be appropriate by the administration or immediate supervisor. Such evaluations shall be used for improving the performance of an employee who is not meeting District standards.
- 13.2.4 No unit member shall formally evaluate another unit member
- 13.2.5 The evaluation form shall be completed in duplicate by the unit member's immediate supervisor. Following the evaluation, a personal conference may be conducted if requested by either party. After the conference, the unit member shall have the right to add or attach a written response to the report if he or she so desires.

Both the unit member and the evaluator must sign the forms. One copy shall be given to the employee and one copy sent to the administrator in charge. After review, this copy shall be placed in the unit member's personnel file.

13.2.6 No evaluation shall be made on the basis of unsubstantiated hearsay.

13.3 Personnel Files

- 13.3.1 The personnel file of each employee shall be maintained at the District's central administrative office. No adverse action shall be taken against an employee based upon materials which are not in the personnel file.
- Employees shall be provided with copies of any derogatory written materials ten (10) work days before it is placed in the employee's personnel file. The employee shall be given an opportunity during working hours and without loss of pay to initial and date the material and to prepare a written response to such material. The written response shall be attached to the derogatory material.
- 13.3.3 An employee shall have the right at any reasonable time, with prior notice and without loss of pay, to examine and get copies of any material from his or her personnel file except for material that includes ratings, reports or records which were obtained before the employment of the employee involved.
- All personnel files shall be kept in confidence and shall be available for inspection only to other employees of the District, the Board or the District's legal counsel when actually necessary in the proper administration of the District's affairs of the supervision of the employee. The District shall keep a log listing the persons who have examined a personnel file as well as the date such examinations were made. The District shall not be required to keep a log when non-derogatory routine personnel documents are placed in the personnel file. Such log and the employee's personnel file shall be available for examination by the employee or his or her CSEA representative, if authorized by the employee. The log shall be maintained in the employee's personnel file.

13.3.5 Any person who prepares derogatory written material for placement in an employee's file shall sign the material and signify the date on which such material was drafted. Any derogatory written materials placed in a personnel file shall show the date of such placement.

13.4 Grievance Procedure

Employees may use the grievance procedure to resolve allegations of violation, misapplication or misinterpretation of the procedures provided in this Article.

13.5 Representation

All employees shall have the right to have a CSEA representative present at any meeting with supervisors or management which are accusatory, investigatory, or may lead to discipline.

Employees shall be informed of the intent and content of these meetings to arrange for representation.

13.6 Employee's Rights

Employees shall be free from unlawful acts or threats of intimidation and physical or verbal discrimination, harassment, or aggression.

13.7 Negative Incident

Employees shall be notified within ten (10) working days following any negative incident which may result in derogatory material being placed in their personnel file. This will allow time for the employee may respond in a reasonable fashion. This section shall be inapplicable in cases involving either an internal District investigation or a law enforcement investigation regarding allegations of employee misconduct.

13.8 Evaluation Procedure Revisions

Once each year a joint committee of district management and bargaining unit members will be formed to recommend improvements in the district's evaluation procedures.

13.8.1 Management committee members will include one school principal and one manager from both the Maintenance & Operations and Human Resources departments. Bargaining unit committee members will include one employee from each job family in Unit-1 and Unit -2, plus one CSEA chapter officer.

13.8.2 The committee will:

- a) identify and historical problems with the district's evaluation procedure;
- b) recommend changes in procedures and/or documents;
- c) recommend training and/or workshops that will assist participants in the evaluation process; and
- d) develop a timeline for implementation of committee recommendations.

ARTICLE XIV NO STRIKE PROVISION

- 14.1 The exclusive representative and the Board agree that differences between the parties shall be settled by peaceful means as provided in this Agreement. During the term of this Agreement the exclusive representative, in consideration of the terms and conditions of this Agreement, will not engage in, encourage, instigate, or condone any strike, work stoppage, sick-out, or any concerted refusal to perform work duties as required in this Agreement. It will undertake to exert its best efforts to discourage any such acts by any employee in the unit.
- 14.2 Violation of this Article by the exclusive representative or by any person covered by this Agreement shall be just cause for a discharge, or other discipline and/or imposition of other penalties to be determined by the Board.

ARTICLE XV GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE

15.1 Scope

One (1) or more members of the unit or CSEA, acting on matters of general concern to the unit, may process a written grievance regarding any alleged violation of the express terms of this Agreement. Such alleged violation of this Agreement must personally and adversely affect the member or members of the unit desiring to process the grievance.

15.2 General Provisions

- 15.2.1 No grievance shall be recognized unless it shall have been presented at the proper level within twenty (20) days after the grievant knew, or reasonably should have known, of the act or condition that formed the basis of the grievance.
- 15.2.2 The time limits provided for in the procedure may be extended by mutual consent of the parties.
- 15.2.3 A day is defined as any day the District administrative office is open for business.
- 15.2.4 The grievant, and respondent, if any, shall be present at all levels of the review.
- 15.2.5 A decision made at any level shall be considered final unless an appeal Is registered within the specified time limits.
- 15.2.6 The grievant and respondent may have his or her representative present at any level of the grievance procedure.
- 15.2.7 The exclusive representative shall be granted reasonable periods of release time for processing grievances.
- 15.2.8 All relevant information about the grievance which is known by the grievant should be disclosed at the First Level of the grievance procedure.

15.3 Review Procedures

15.3.1 Informal Resolution

A grievance shall first be discussed with the grievant's principal or immediate supervisor with the goal of resolving the matter informally.

15.3.2 Level I - Principal or Immediate Supervisor

- 15.3.2.1 If the grievant is not satisfied with the disposition of the grievance at the informal level, he or she may submit the claim as a formal grievance in writing to the principal or his or her immediate supervisor.
- 15.3.2.2 If the grievant has not filed a formal claim within ten (10) days after speaking with his or her supervisor informally, the grievance shall be considered resolved.
- 15.3.2.3 Following the presentation of the formal grievance, the supervisor shall meet within three (3) days with the grievant to discuss the resolution of the matter.
- 15.3.2.4 The supervisor shall prepare a written response to the grievant no later than five (5) days after the above discussion.

15.3.3 Level II - Superintendent

- 15.3.3.1 If the grievant is not satisfied with the disposition of the grievance by his or her supervisor, he or she may forward the written grievance to the Superintendent for review.
- 15.3.3.2 If the grievant does not appeal the proposed resolution of the grievance by his or her supervisor within ten (10) days after the receipt of the written decision, the grievance shall be considered resolved.
- 15.3.3.3 Within ten (10) days after receipt of the written grievance by the Superintendent, the Superintendent or his designee shall meet with the grievant and his or her representative (if he or she desires) in an attempt to resolve the matter.

15.3.3.4 Within five (5) days after this conference the Superintendent shall present the grievant with his written decision regarding the grievance.

15.3.4 Level III - Mediation (Optional)

Before the submission of a grievance to Level IV, either party to the grievance procedure may require that the parties use the services of the State Conciliation Service for mediation and private recommendation regarding the outcome of the grievance.

15.3.5 <u>Level IV - Board of Education</u>

- 15.3.5.1 The Board has the right and responsibility for making a final decision regarding a grievance.
- 15.3.5.2 If the grievant is not satisfied with the disposition of the grievance by the Superintendent or the grievance mediation process specified in Level III, if used, he or she may submit the grievance to the Board for consideration.
- 15.3.5.3 If the grievant does not appeal the proposed resolution of the grievance by the superintendent within ten (10) days after the written decision, the grievance shall be considered to have been resolved. If the parties use the services of a mediator under Level III and the grievant wishes to appeal to the Board, such appeal must be filed within ten (10) days following the mediation conference.
- 15.3.5.4 The Board shall schedule the matter for a hearing at a closed session to be held at the next regularly scheduled Board meeting, provided ten (10) days have elapsed since receiving the written grievance. The grievant and his or her representative (if he or she so desires) may present written or oral evidence to the Board during the closed session. The Board shall consider only those evidentiary materials which have been presented to the principal or immediate supervisor and the Superintendent.

- 15.3.5.5 Within twenty (20) days from the time the Board reaches its decision, the Board shall submit its decision in writing together with supporting reasons to the grievant. A copy shall be furnished to the grievant, the administrators involved, the Superintendent, and the President of CSEA.
- 15.3.5.6 The decision of the Board as to the disposition of the grievance shall be final, subject to the grievant's right to seek judicial review of the decision.

ARTICLE XVI ASSOCIATION RIGHTS

16.1 CSEA Rights

CSEA shall have the following rights in addition to the rights contained in any other portion of this Agreement.

- 16.1.1 The right of access at reasonable times to areas in which employees work, for the purpose of representing bargaining unit members on grievances and related matters.
- 16.1.2 The right to use without charge institutional bulletin boards, mailboxes, and other District internal means of communication for the posting or transmission of information or notices concerning CSEA matters.
- 16.1.3 The right to use without charge, for purposes of Association business, institutional equipment, facilities, and buildings, under the Civic Center Act provisions, at reasonable times, when not otherwise in use.
- 16.1.4 The right to view employee personnel files and any other records dealing with employees except legally excluded material, when accompanied by the employee or upon presentation of a written authorization signed by the employee.
- 16.1.5 The right to be supplied with a complete seniority roster, including District start date, seniority date and current and other classifications, dates held in current primary job site, number of assigned/posted hours per week, and average number of hours per week. This seniority roster shall be provided quarterly and at any time in which the District is implementing a layoff of bargaining unit members.

- 16.1.6 The right to receive upon request, without cost, copies of all materials except legally excluded materials, related to wages, hours and other terms and condition of employment which are relevant and necessary for CSEA to fulfill its duties and obligations as the exclusive representative of bargaining unit employees covered by this Agreement.
- 16.1.7 Subject to the provisions of this contract, and upon agreement with the District, the right to reasonable release time for employees who are CSEA officers to conduct necessary CSEA business.
- 16.1.8 The right of release time for CSEA chapter delegates to attend the annual CSEA conference without loss of salary, but with no other expense to the District.

16.2 Distribution of Contract

Within thirty (30) days after the execution and preparation of this contract, the District shall print or duplicate and provide without charge thirty copies of this contract to CSEA. Copies shall also be available at each employee work site /department. Additionally, the contract shall be posted on the District's web site.

ARTICLE XVII PROMOTIONAL PROCEDURES

17.1 The District reserves the right to make the final determination regarding the rating and ranking of applicants for promotional positions and to post notices of promotional vacancies both within and without the District in the manner permitted by law. All applicants shall meet the stated qualifications for the promotional vacancy.

17.1.1 <u>Rating</u>

All prospective candidates for the same position shall be asked the same questions as determined by the District. The interview panel's determination of how well the interviewees responded to the established questions shall be tallied and become the interviewees rating.

17.1.2 Ranking

At the conclusion of all the interviews for a given position, each person on the interview panel shall rank the prospective candidates. Individual interview committee member's notes, rating and rankings shall be kept on file for not less than one year's time.

17.1.3 Section 17.1.1 and 17.1.2 shall only be applicable when the vacancy is a bargaining unit position.

17.2 Promotional Position Interview

- 17.2.1 CSEA shall have the right to appoint an observer to the interview process, if the promotional vacancy is a bargaining unit position. The District shall notify CSEA of the scheduled interviews, in writing, five (5) working days prior to the interview process. CSEA shall, in return, notify the District of its intent to observe the process and the name of its designated observer. The designated observer shall be a member of the CSEA bargaining unit.
- 17.2.2 The CSEA designated observer shall not participate in the rating and ranking of the applicants, but shall restrict himself or herself to the role of impartial observer.

- 17.2.3 Information regarding applicant's qualifications, answers to interview questions and discussion among the interview panel members shall be treated with the strictest confidence. The observer shall, if requested by either party, verify in writing, adherence to the interview process.
- 17.3 If two or more applicants for a promotional position receive equal highest rating and ranking, the following rules of promotional order shall apply.
 - 17.3.1 Existing unit members shall prevail over outside applicants.
 - 17.3.2 A unit member with the most District-wide seniority shall prevail over a unit member with less District-wide seniority.
 - 17.3.3 If two or more unit members have equal seniority, the unit member promoted shall be selected by the District.

17.4 Posting of Notice

- 17.4.1 Notice of all job vacancies shall be posted on bulletin boards in prominent locations at each District job site and on the District website. Copies shall be mailed to the CSEA President.
- 17.4.2 The job vacancy notice shall remain posted for six (6) full workdays, during which time employees may file for the vacancy.

17.5 Notice Contents

The job vacancy notice shall include: the job title, a brief description of the position and duties, the minimum qualifications required for the position, the number of hours per day, probable assigned work shift times, days per week, and months per year assigned to the position, the salary range, and the deadline for filing to fill the vacancy.

17.6 Reclassifications

17.6.1 The District may implement, supplement, change, modify or discontinue positions, classifications and duties in accordance with Article 3 of the CSEA/District contract.

- 17.6.2 The District shall offer CSEA the opportunity to consult upon any reclassification by notifying CSEA of its intent to implement any reclassifications. CSEA shall have the option to make written recommendations within ten (10) duty days of notification. If CSEA provides written recommendations, the District will respond to such recommendations within ten (10) duty days indicating its reasons for accepting or rejecting the recommendations of CSEA.
- 17.6.3 CSEA may present proposals to reclassify any position or classification. Upon receipt of such proposal and accompanying written documentation, the District shall respond within ten (10) duty days to the proposal and indicate acceptance or disagreement. The District reserves the right to employ the services of an independent consultant to advise it regarding CSEA's request for reclassification. In such cases, the ten duty day response time shall be inapplicable until the District has received the recommendation of its independent consultant.

ARTICLE XVIII EFFECT OF AGREEMENT

- **18.1** This agreement terminates and supersedes all past written agreements. Past practices, procedures, traditions, and rules, or regulations which are not specifically mentioned in this agreement are not affected by this agreement.
- 18.2 Should any article, section, or clause of this Agreement be declared illegal by a court of competent jurisdiction, said article, section, or clause, as the case may be, shall be automatically deleted from this Agreement to the extent that it violated the law. The remaining articles, sections, and clauses shall remain in full force and effect for the duration of the Agreement if not affected by the deleted article, section or clause. In the event of invalidation of any article or section of this Agreement, the parties agree to meet and negotiate within thirty (3O) days after such determination for the purpose of arriving at a mutually satisfactory replacement for such article or section.

ARTICLE XIX LAYOFF AND REEMPLOYMENT PROCEDURES

19.1 Reasons for Layoff

Layoff shall occur only for lack of work or lack of funds.

19.2 Notice of Layoff

- 19.2.1 Upon the decision of the District to reduce the number of unit member(s) in the classified service of the District, written notice of layoff shall be sent by certified mail or delivered in person to the affected unit member by the Superintendent or his designee.
- 19.2.2 The District shall send written notice of layoff to the affected unit member(s) not less than forty-five (45) calendar days before the effective date of layoff, informing the member of his or her displacement rights, if any, and reemployment rights. Any notice of layoff shall specify the reason for layoff and identify by name and classification the unit member(s) designated for layoff.
- 19.2.3 CSEA shall receive a written notice in accordance with Section 19.2.2, of at least forty-five (45) calendar days prior to the effective date of the layoff.
- 19.2.4 When, as a result of the expiration of a specially funded program, classified positions must be eliminated at the end of any school year, written notice of layoff shall be given employees by May 29.
- 19.2.5 Forty-five (45) calendar days notice is not required when an actual and existing financial inability to pay exists or for cause not foreseeable or preventable by the District.
- 19.2.6 All earned but unused vacation will be paid to the employees by the effective date of the layoff implementation.

19.3 Order of Layoff

- 19.3.1 A restricted classified unit member shall first be laid off if any regular unit member holding the same or similar classification as the unit member is laid off.
- 19.3.2 The order of layoff of unit members shall be determined by length of service. The unit member, who has been employed the shortest time in the affected classification including time employed in a higher classification, if applicable, shall be laid off first. Bumping rights of unit members shall apply after determination of seniority in a class. Bargaining unit members who are subject to layoff shall exercise bumping rights into any classification, within currently held or previously held classification, providing they meet District-adopted minimum qualifications and providing that the classification into which they are bumping is equal or lower than that classification in which the employees have served. An equal classification means a classification with the same rate or pay as the unit member's current classification. A unit member possessing displacement (bumping) rights need not exercise those rights; a unit member who elects in lieu of displacement or bumping maintains his or her reemployment rights.

Classified employees in positions that have been eliminated shall have the right to displace the least senior employee in their classification whose assignment most closely approximates their own annual regularly assigned hours. The order of displacement shall be as follows: (1) equal number of annual regularly assigned hours; (2) greater number of regularly assigned hours; (3) lesser number of regularly assigned hours.

19.3.3 If two or more unit members have the same length of service, the order of layoff of such employees shall be determined by District-wide seniority. If a tie still exists, the unit members affected shall draw lots to break the tie.

- 19.3.4 Length of service means the hire date of an employee from the date of first paid status in the District in a probationary status.
 - (a) If an employee is rehired or reemployed within 39 months, the employees' hire date shall be adjusted and the time off shall not be counted. (Example: 2 yr break = 2 year later hire date).
 - (b) All other rights, including sick leave, shall be restored if the break in service is 39 months or less.
- 19.3.5 Nothing contained in this section shall prevent the granting of "length of service" credit for time spent on military leave of absence, unpaid illness leave, unpaid industrial accident leave, unpaid medical leave, or any approved unpaid personal leave.
- 19.3.6 "Length of service" shall not be interpreted to mean any service performed before entering into probationary or permanent status in the classified service of the District except in a restricted position as provided in Education Code 45105.
- 19.3.7 For this section, the word "classification" shall be defined as a position within a class which has a designated title, specific duties, responsibilities, minimum qualifications and has a designated salary range established for each position within a class.

19.4 Demotion or Retirement Instead of Layoff

19.4.1 A permanent or probationary employee who has been removed from his/her classification for lack of work or lack of funds and after exercising his/her bumping rights may accept a voluntary demotion to a vacant position in a lower class or placement in an equal class, in lieu of layoff, provided that the employee is qualified to perform the duties thereof. Such employee shall maintain his/her reemployment rights as defined in this Article.

- 19.4.2 Employees who, in lieu of layoff, take voluntary demotions or voluntary reductions in assigned time shall be, at the employees' option, returned to a position in their former classification or to a position with increased assigned time as vacancies become available, in the reverse order of layoff and for a period of sixty-three (63) months from the effective date of the layoff. Such employees shall be ranked in accordance with their seniority on the reemployment list.
- 19.4.3 An employee who is laid off and elects retirement from the Public Employees Retirement System (PERS) shall be placed on a reemployment list. The District shall notify PERS that retirement was due to layoff. Should the employee subsequently accept, in writing, reemployment, the District shall maintain the vacancy until PERS has properly processed the request for reinstatement from retirement; however, the vacancy may be staffed temporarily pending processing of the PERS reinstatement request.

19.5 Reemployment Procedures

- 19.5.1 A unit member who is laid off shall be placed on a thirty-nine (39) month reemployment list. The employee shall be required to maintain his or her current address on file with the Personnel Office.
- 19.5.2 If, during a unit member's eligibility period for reemployment, a vacancy occurs in the laid off unit member's classification, the Assistant Superintendent of Human Resources shall send written notice by certified mail to the last know address of such unit member(s) offering reemployment in order of service.
- 19.5.3 A unit member who received such a notice of reemployment and refuses to accept in writing the offer of reemployment within ten (10) working days shall be considered to have rejected the offer of reemployment.
- 19.5.4 If the unit member in a layoff status accepts the classification being offered, the unit member shall have up to twenty (20) calendar days from the postmark date of the notice to report for work. This does not prevent a unit member from returning to work in less than twenty (20) calendar days.

19.5.5 A unit member reemployed after being laid off shall be fully restored to his or her classification. Service credit and benefits shall not accrue during the period of layoff.

During the period of layoff or substitute service or other service other than regular full time or part time employment, service credit toward seniority and vacation entitlement (Exception - see 19.5.8) shall not accrue. Full service credit or part time credit shall accrue for employment served prior to layoff and upon reemployment.

- 19.5.6 If a laid off employee is rehired within 39 months, all earned unused sick leave will be restored to the employees sick leave account in accordance with applicable statute.
- 19.5.7 All laid off employees on the thirty-nine (39) month reemployment list shall have the first opportunity to fill any vacancies for which they meet the minimum qualifications of the District. Notices of all vacancies shall be posted on the District web site. The District will also notify the CSEA President.
- 19.5.8 Any employee laid off shall have the absolute right and preference over all others to work as substitutes in any substitute position for which they meet the minimum qualifications. These employees will continue to receive their regular rate of pay if they substitute in their former classification and the substitute rate if they work in other classifications. Any employee on the thirty-nine (39) month reemployment list who continues to provide service as a district employee-shall earn sick leave, holiday and vacation benefits when they work as a substitute.
- 19.5.9 The District agrees to comply with California Education Code sections 35021 and 45349 relating to the use of volunteers. The District agrees to write a letter (on or about September 5th each year) to all district management employees (with a copy to CSEA) instructing them that no volunteers, non-unit employees, or unit employees shall perform the work of the laid off employees.

19.6 Seniority List

At least thirty (30) working days before the effective date of a layoff, the District will provide CSEA with a seniority roster.

- 19.7 CSEA reserves the right to negotiate the impacts and effects of the District's decision to layoff bargaining unit employees. In addition, CSEA reserves the right to negotiate the District's decision to reduce hours of employment in accordance to PERB decisions or other statutory limitations.
- 19.8 An eligible laid off employee or eligible survivor, at their own expense, shall have the right to continue to participate in the District's medical insurance plans for such period of time, and to the extent as authorized by the provisions of federal or state law.
- **19.9** All employees who receive a layoff notice shall continue to receive the same health and welfare benefits until the following September 30th.
- 19.10 Any laid off unit member who was eligible for insurance coverage at the time of lay off, and who subsequently accepts reemployment for fewer hours than is required to initially qualify for the District insurance plans may at the members option, receive those benefits. The cost of these benefits shall be shared by both the District and the employee and prorated based on the number of hours worked as related to the number of hours required for full coverage by the District.

ARTICLE XX TERM OF AGREEMENT

| 20.1 | This Agreement shall become effective as 2014. | of July 1, 2011 and shall continue in effect until June 30, |
|------|---|---|
| 20.2 | For the 2012-2013 and the 2013-2014 school years, the District and CSEA shall have the right to reopen the articles of the Agreement on salary and benefits. Also, each party shall have the right to reopen two additional articles. | |
| | | |
| | Approved by: | Approved by: |
| | The Board of Education of the Coronado Unified School District | California School Employees Association and its Coronado Chapter, #386 |
| | | Unit One and Unit Two |
| C | On: | On: |
| | Bruce Shepherd, President | Donna Dente, President |